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  [9.32 am] 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Yes, thank you.  Good morning.  Given the exchange 

yesterday, is there anything from that discussion that we need to deal 
with first?  Can we expect an application or can you just tell us where 5 
we have got to? 

 
MR CARRANCEJA:   Sir, from our perspective, we are awaiting two things 

from the Council.  By way of explanation, the first is confirmed 
timeframes, there are discussions regarding administrative 10 
requirements as I understand it that need to be fulfilled.  So I am not 
expecting those just yet, sir. 

 
SIR HANSEN:   Okay. 
 15 
MR CARRANCEJA:   The second thing is, and this is another request that we 

have had of the Council.  Sir, your Honour asked that I provide more 
details regarding the types of activities. 

 
SIR HANSEN:   Well, no, it was not more details around types of activities.  It 20 

was to ensure that nothing got through the cracks, that everything was 
picked up. 

 
MR CARRANCEJA:   Correct, sir. 
 25 
SIR HANSEN:   And we do not have you coming back later and saying, “Oh, 

by the way, we did not pick up, we forgot this one”.   
 
MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes. 
 30 
SIR HANSEN:   So that is what we want absolute clarity and certainty, 

certainty is the big thing about. 
 
MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes, and so to derive that information though, sir, we 

are relying on the Council because the Council through the permitted 35 
activities Order in Council - - - 

 
SIR HANSEN:   Well, what we expect is cooperation so you come back to us 

with a joint - - - 
 40 
MR CARRANCEJA:   Correct, sir. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   - - - certain statement of what it is to cover. 
 
MR CARRANCEJA:   So the process is in train, sir. 45 
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SIR HANSEN:   Good, well, that is all we need to know.  I think we need to 
indicate, from our point of view, the direction needs to be finalised this 
week, so we have only got today and tomorrow. 

 
MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes, sir. 5 
 
SIR HANSEN:   So if you can fit within that timeframe that is fine. 
 
MR CARRANCEJA:   Thank you, sir. 
 10 
SIR HANSEN:   Is that suitable, Ms Scott? 
 
MS SCOTT:   Yes, it is, sir.  Just to add to that there has been progress 

overnight with the client and we also have time in front of the elected 
members tomorrow, and we are urgently working on that as fast as we 15 
can. 

 
SIR HANSEN:   I am grateful, thank you very much. 
 
MS SCOTT:   Thank you. 20 
 
SIR HANSEN:   All right, now, Mobil Oil we come to.  Who is first? 
 
MR LE MARQUAND:   Sir, can I suggest Mr Taylor. 
 25 
SIR HANSEN:   Mr Taylor, goes first, sure. 
 
<CAMERON MURRAY LINDSAY TAYLOR, sworn [9.35 am] 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Your full name is Cameron Murray Lindsay Taylor? 30 
 
MR TAYLOR:   Correct. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   You have filed a brief of evidence in this Court? 
 35 
MR TAYLOR:   Yes. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Dated 25 November? 
 
MR TAYLOR:   Yes. 40 
 
SIR HANSEN:   And you confirm its contents are true and correct? 
 
MR TAYLOR:   Yes. 
 45 
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SIR HANSEN:   If you would just give us your high level summary of that 
evidence and then we will see if the Panel have any questions of you. 

 
MR TAYLOR:   All right, thank you. 
 5 
 My name is Cameron Murray Lindsay Taylor.  I am the New Zealand 

Distribution Terminals Manager for Mobil Oil New Zealand, and I am 
here to present some evidence on behalf of Mobil, Z Energy and BP Oil 
New Zealand Limited, the Oil Companies in effect.  I am also a 
director of Mobil Oil New Zealand and a director of Wiri Oil Services 10 
that operate the joint venture terminal in Auckland. 

 
 My evidence sets out the background to Mobil and its key role as an 

infrastructure provider in the Canterbury region and across 
New Zealand, and in order to provide some context to the changes 15 
sought by the Oil Companies to chapter 3, the Strategic Directions 
chapter of the Christchurch Replacement Plan. 

 
 Just by way of background, Mobil is New Zealand’s oldest oil 

company and a leading supplier of both fuel and lubricants to the 20 
New Zealand market.  We operate a number of bulk storage terminals 
and coastal bulk plants around New Zealand, two of which are in the 
Christchurch region.  We also have an aviation depot based at 
Christchurch Airport which is not currently operating. 

 25 
 In terms of our facilities in Christchurch at Lyttelton we have two 

terminal facilities, one at Naval Point and one on George Seymour 
Quay.  And you can see from diagram 1 those are located in an area 
alongside other Oil Company terminals - Z Energy, BP and Liquigas 
which has got the LP gas terminal at Lyttelton. 30 

 
 The Mobil facilities comprise bulk storage of around nine million litres 

of fuel at George Seymour Quay and around 22 million litres at Naval 
Point.  Now, with Naval Point, the storage capacity at Naval Point is 
currently out of service as a result of a landslide on the 5 March this 35 
year and I will talk a little bit more about that in more detail. 

 
 The other key asset that Mobil owns and operates in the 

Lyttelton/Christchurch area is the Lyttelton-Woolston pipeline that runs 
from the storage terminal at Lyttelton across to our terminal at 40 
Woolston.  The pipeline is around 6.7 kilometres long and runs 
underground at the Lyttelton side and the Woolston side but is above 
ground over the hillside.   

 
45 
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 The pipeline was commissioned in 1956 and since then has really 
proved the most reliable and safest transportation, particularly for 
gasoline products, across the hill from Lyttelton to the Christchurch 
city. 

 5 
 The pipeline transports around 650 to 670 million litres of fuel per 

year, predominantly gasoline, but also diesel and jet fuel.  The pipeline 
typically operates around 24 hours a day/365 days a year although there 
is some spare capacity in that pipeline to increase the flows or the 
operating hours if we need to. 10 

 
 The pipeline is an essential piece of infrastructure for not only 

Christchurch but also the broader Canterbury region and the 
South Island.  It needs to be retained and it may need to be upgraded 
and replaced in the future.  And I will talk a little bit about why it is so 15 
important to the South Island region in the next minute or two. 

 
 As I say, the pipeline has really proved to be the safest, most reliable 

means of transporting fuel products across the hill to Christchurch.  
 20 
 The other facility we have in this area is the Woolston terminal, and 

that is located in the industrial area of Woolston, and has a storage 
capacity at around 16 million litres of fuel.  That facility holds gasoline, 
diesel and jet fuel.   

 25 
  [9.40 am] 
 
 The Woolston terminal was really commissioned in 1950 as an inland 

depot.  When it was first commissioned the original mode of transport 
was by truck from Lyttelton across the hills into Christchurch, but as 30 
the fuel flows or fuel demand increased in the Canterbury region, that 
trucking operation became quite dangerous because of the state of the 
roads and transport across the hillside.  So the pipeline was really 
installed, as I say, a safer, more reliable means to get the product into 
Christchurch. 35 

 
 The Woolston terminal is heavily utilised by all four oil companies.  So 

as you see from the diagram 1, three of the four oil companies have 
facilities in Lyttelton but all four companies pump their fuel across the 
hill via the Mobil pipeline into the Mobil Woolston terminal.  So 40 
effectively all four major oil companies lift product from the Woolston 
terminal, so we are loading trucks for not only our fuel supplies but 
also for those of our competitors. 

 
45 
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 To continue to store and distribute fuel products to Christchurch and 
South Island we really need to maintain a resilient, efficient and 
effective mechanism to get fuel across the hill.  And of particular 
importance is getting jet fuel out to Christchurch Airport in a safe 
reliable manner so that we can keep the planes flying. 5 

 
 Fuel from the Woolston terminal is distributed as far north as Nelson 

and in some cases as far south as Invercargill.  Jet fuel is taken to 
Invercargill on occasions.  So not only does those facilities at Lyttelton 
pipeline and Woolston service Canterbury and Christchurch but also 10 
the greater South Island area. 

 
 The importance of the supply chain from Lyttelton through to 

Christchurch, as I say, is important across the entire South Island and 
not just for Christchurch itself.  One of the features that really support 15 
that is that Lyttelton is a relatively deep port, so we can bring larger 
ships into Lyttelton to offload product.  And that includes not only 
coastal shipping vessels from Refining New Zealand but also the 
imported finished product vessels that we bring in from Singapore and 
other locations around the country.  So around 30 to 40 percent of 20 
New Zealand’s fuel supply is imported as finished product.  Not all our 
product comes from RNZ up at Whangarei. 

 
 So what that means at Lyttelton is that we can bring the largest vessels 

from our larger Singapore refineries and other refineries in North Asia 25 
and that makes the supply chain much more efficient.  The larger the 
vessels the more efficient the supply chain is. 

 
 Of all the ports in New Zealand dealing with finished products, 

Lyttelton handles the largest volume.  So it is the largest receipt port in 30 
the country of around a billion litres per annum. 

 
 In March this year there was a landslide that occurred just below 

Brittan Terrace in Lyttelton that severely damaged the Mobil terminal 
at Naval Point.  So effectively that terminal is currently out of 35 
operation because the hillside remains unstable and there may be 
further landslides that put facilities and people at risk. 

 
 Just by way of context.  The volume of the landslide was around 3,400 

cubic metres of soil.  That is around 300 truckloads of soil that came 40 
down the hillside in about 30 to 40 seconds.  So it severely damaged 
two of our key storage tanks at Naval Point.  One was the jet fuel tank 
around 1.2 million litres of jet fuel was released from that damaged 
tank but also tank 23, which is one of our key gasoline tanks in 
Lyttelton, was severely damaged and is unusable. 45 
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 The landslide really has rendered Mobil’s Naval Point facility in-
operational (ph 4.10).  Now, what that has meant for the supply chain 
into the South Island is that 62 percent of the storage capacity for 
gasoline at Lyttelton has been removed from the supply chain.  Now, as 
much as the industries and the companies in New Zealand have worked 5 
very, very hard to maintain resilience and continued supply into 
Christchurch, it has become very inefficient because it disrupted the 
national shipping schedules to the point where we are bringing in a 
larger number of vessels with smaller deliveries because we do not 
have enough storage tanks in the Lyttelton area. 10 

 
 So what that has done is de-optimise the entire shipping chain for 

New Zealand and has reduced the resilience of the supply chain into 
Christchurch and the broader South Island. 

 15 
  [9.45 am] 
 
 So it is therefore important that we increase or restore that capacity into 

the Lyttelton area so that we can re-establish that resilience but also 
rebuild that efficiency in the supply chain. 20 

 
 In our submissions the oil companies sought amendments to objectives 

3.6.5 and outcome 6 to reflect the fact that although the risks resulting 
from natural hazards to our facilities can be managed they cannot be 
reduced in all circumstances.  By virtue of being a marine operation we 25 
need our facilities close to wharfs, close to harbours.   

 
 Similarly, with the pipeline we need to run the pipeline over the hillside 

or through the hillside is the other option.  So again it is very difficult 
to relocate those into areas that totally avoid natural hazard risks. 30 

 
 In my view Ms Carter did not necessarily take account of the nature 

and the functionality of our facilities and our business in Lyttelton, 
across the hill and then into Woolston in seeking the avoidance or 
reduction of risk in all circumstances.  35 

 
 We are very familiar with managing risk both in Lyttelton, but also 

globally across our business and I guess once we have put a number of 
processes in place.  You know, Ms Carter referred to opportunities to 
reduce risk such as isolation valves, management plans, response plans.  40 
Once you have got all those things in place, as we do today, it is very 
difficult to find new and innovative ways to reduce risk.  At some point 
we accept the risk and we manage the risk to the best way we can and, 
in some cases, accept it and deal with the consequences if and when 
they arise. 45 
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 So, in summary, the facilities at Lyttelton, the pipeline, and at 
Woolston, provide really the only safe and reliable means to get the 
very large volumes of fuel into the Christchurch and South Island 
market.  While a number of companies have talked about trucking 
gasoline, particularly through the tunnel, to try and put the fuel 5 
products into trucks, drive them through the tunnel or over the hillside 
is another 22,000 trucks on the road every year.  Not only going back 
but then another 22,000 coming back to Lyttelton. 

 
SIR HANSEN:   22,000 journeys, not trucks on the road. 10 
 
MR TAYLOR:   Yes. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Not 20,000 new trucks. 
 15 
MR TAYLOR:   That is right, sorry, journeys, yes. 
 
 And then another 22,000 coming back with the empty trucks, empty 

journeys to pick the next load of product up. 
 20 
 So given that, you know, that would be a huge additional transport 

workload onto the tunnel itself but also, in Mobil’s view, trucking 
gasoline through tunnels is a fairly hazardous high risk operation that 
we are not willing to undertake. 

 25 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Do you have the – you say “In Mobil’s view”, does the 

Transport Agency have a view on that? 
 
MR TAYLOR:   My understanding is under the bylaw that transport of 

gasoline through the tunnel is typically prohibited for safety reasons.  30 
But following the earthquakes they have relaxed that to transport small 
volumes or small truck numbers of gasoline through the tunnel during 
restricted hours at night time, because the alternate routes are not open 
at the moment, they are closed.  So my understanding is once those 
alternate routes will reopen then that restriction will prohibit it, 35 
prohibition of gasoline through the tunnel will cease. 

 
 So, in conclusion, you know, given the importance of safe, reliable, 

resilient fuel supply into the South Island but in particular Christchurch 
Airport for jet fuel, our ability to maintain, repair and upgrade the 40 
Lyttelton, Woolston and pipeline facilities as key strategic assets is 
very important to us in the Christchurch region. 

 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you.  Ms Dawson? 
 45 
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MS DAWSON:   Just for my interest or information really, how did the 
pipeline cope with the earthquakes and, you know, have you had to 
upgrade, is there necessary work that is needed as a result of the 
earthquakes to the pipeline? 

 5 
MR TAYLOR:   The February earthquake caused some rock fall that did 

damage the pipeline.  It did not rupture the pipeline, there was no loss 
of product.  It is a very heavy duty piece of equipment and it is very 
resilient to rock fall particularly because it was one of the risks we 
identified.  So it was out of service for I think nine to 10 days while we 10 
cut a section out, replaced it and put it back into service.  So I 
understand that is the longest time it has been out of service in its 
lifetime. 

 
  [9.50 am] 15 
 
MS DAWSON:   And you do not have an ongoing need to bring forward 

upgrading and maintenance as a result of the earthquakes? 
 
MR TAYLOR:   Not specifically, we have a programme of work that we have 20 

planned over the next five, 10, 15 years to maintain the integrity and 
improve the integrity and resilience.  So it has not really changed that 
plan other than the short-term repairs that we had to. 

 
MS DAWSON:   And with the loss of storage capacity as a result of the March 25 

Lyttelton landslide, what plans – I mean do you have plans yet as to 
how to replace that or what is your current thinking I suppose about 
replacing that capacity? 

 
MR TAYLOR:   Well, the current thinking is we need to restore that tankage at 30 

Lyttelton because what it has done is de-optimise the fuel supply chain 
from a shipping perspective.  So what we are doing at the moment as 
an industry is bringing more vessels in with smaller parcels of product 
which has made it much more efficient, much more costly and is 
subject to different weather patterns.  So the more vessels we have on 35 
the water or the more journeys we have on the water the more prone 
they are to weather delays and therefore puts supply continuity at risk. 

 
MS DAWSON:   And replacing those tanks on the Woolston side would it not 

actually deal with that problem? 40 
 
MR TAYLOR:   That is correct. 
 
MS DAWSON:   It has to be at Lyttelton? 
 45 
MR TAYLOR:   Yes. 
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MS DAWSON:   And the closure of the Sumner Road for – it is still an 

indefinite period – that would have made the importance of the pipeline 
for resilience and fuel even more important for Christchurch? 

 5 
MR TAYLOR:   Yes. 
 
MS DAWSON:   And I guess it is still or constantly going to be at risk of 

future natural hazards as well to provide access? 
 10 
MR TAYLOR:   Yes, that is right. 
 
MS DAWSON:   Thank you very much. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Dr Mitchell? 15 
 
DR MITCHELL:   Thank you, sir.  Good morning, Mr Taylor.  Just two 

questions please and one is just a question of clarification.  In terms of 
the Woolston terminal do other oil companies own their own portion of 
that or do they lease space from you, do you own the whole thing? 20 

 
MR TAYLOR:   We own and operate the Woolston terminal and we charge the 

other companies a throughput fee effectively to come and lift product 
from it. 

 25 
DR MITCHELL:   So on your diagram 3, the yellow circle which says, 

“Mobil”, I mean it is true but the area to the left is some other 
properties, it is not part of the oil terminal? 

 
MR TAYLOR:   That is right, there are no other oil terminals in the 30 

Christchurch region or the Christchurch area. 
 
DR MITCHELL:   All right, thank you.  The second matter, just relating to 

your comments about risks, you would accept that risk in the context of 
your facilities has two elements - risks to your infrastructure and risks 35 
to the environment? 

 
MR TAYLOR:   Yes. 
 
DR MITCHELL:   And I understand the point that you have made about how – 40 

I mean you have used the word “managing” risk a lot and I guess the 
way that you might manage risks to your own infrastructure versus risk 
to the environment might have a different profile and a different way of 
dealing with it. 

 45 
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 But leaving aside that and leaving aside semantics because 
Mr le Marquand and a number of other witnesses have made mention 
of how the natural hazards policy should be worded.  Do I understand 
that when you say “managing risk” you would do whatever you can 
practically do to minimise risk both to your infrastructure and to the 5 
environment?  Is that essentially a fair summary of how you approach 
managing risk? 

 
MR TAYLOR:   Yes. 
 10 
DR MITCHELL:   You minimise it to the extent that it is possible to do so? 
 
MR TAYLOR:   To the extent that it is practicable to do. 
 
DR MITCHELL:   Practicable to do so? 15 
 
MR TAYLOR:   Yes. 
 
DR MITCHELL:   All right, thank you.  Thank you, sir. 
 20 
SIR HANSEN:   Judge? 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Chairman.  Mr Taylor, good morning, just 

a couple of follow on questions.  It is not in your evidence but you 
would probably be aware of the background to it, Mr le Marquand talks 25 
about the fact that New Zealand does not have, and may not have for 
some time, what he described as any explicit land use risk management 
or risk criteria to apply to land use planning in and around major 
hazardous facilities such as these ones.  And he mentions the Wiri 
example and you will be familiar with that.   30 

 
 And reading from Mr le Marquand’s evidence I was interested in that 

because it described what I understood him effectively to say was that 
at a point of inquiry before the Board, on the basis of what was known 
then a certain approach was taken, more international information 35 
became available and subsequently in hindsight perhaps a different 
approach should have been taken somewhat. 

 
 Can you describe to us where things are at in terms of securing a 

nationally consistent approach to land use risk management?  Are there 40 
initiatives being taken on that by the Oil Companies and by officials 
somewhere in government and when might we see the outcome of that? 

 
MR TAYLOR:   The Oil Companies are working alongside the Ministry for 

Business Innovation and Employment to work up the major hazard 45 
facilities regulations and all the work that is going to underlie that.   
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  [9.55 am] 
 
 Really that is picking up UK and Australian best practice around major 

hazard facility risk assessment management mitigation and applying 5 
that in New Zealand.  So they are translating that across to the 
New Zealand environment.  So we are working alongside MBIE to 
develop that process, and a piece of that will be linkages into district 
planning processes so that, you know, I guess the Wiri situation is 
avoided in the future. 10 

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   And it may be Mr le Marquand can answer this but if you 

can, is that likely to see some form of national environmental standard 
on this that plans would be have to implement or is a guideline which - 
- - 15 

 
MR TAYLOR:   My understanding is that there will be a set of regulations 

under the major hazard facility legislation which will require each 
facility of a particular scale to write a safety case that covers all those 
aspects.  So will be required under the regulations to go through the 20 
safety case process, develop those risk assessment plans, mitigation 
plans and then submit those for approval to the regulator. 

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   And bearing in mind the expectation of this Plan, this 

particular plan exercise we are hearing submissions on now, is 25 
expected to be complete in early 2016, within that timeframe are we 
likely to see those regulations? 

 
MR TAYLOR:   I do not know the answer to that but I suspect not. 
 30 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Are we likely to see some benefit from the work that is 

being done towards the making of those regulations in terms of 
informing a position on what this Plan should provide in anticipation of 
them? 

 35 
MR TAYLOR:   I am not sure what schedule MBIE are working to, to be 

honest at the moment.  It is very early in terms of the development 
process. 

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Carranceja, given that you are counsel here and 40 

representing the Crown, I wonder if you would take note of the 
transcript today and if you are in position to make inquiries and come 
back and inform the Panel on those timetables? 

 
MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes, sir. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Just a couple of other matters of detail.  So in 
terms of replacing the storage capacity at the Port, do you have an 
anticipated date on when that would be consented and, in terms of 
RMA processes, able to proceed or perhaps special legislation 
processes? 5 

 
MR TAYLOR:   Well, as soon as we possibly can.  I think next year we will be 

doing a lot of development work and hopefully break ground early the 
following year.  We are expecting a two to three year project to 
redevelop that storage, so I expect we will start the consenting process 10 
early next year. 

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   And is it anticipated that you would need a planning 

framework against which to test that process or is it likely to be done 
by special legislation? 15 

 
MR TAYLOR:   I am not sure at this stage. 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  And in terms of the pipeline upgrading, is 

that on an assumption that the corridor is where you would do any 20 
upgrading, you would not move to a new corridor? 

 
MR TAYLOR:   We would consider new corridors if that was appropriate. 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   And again I take it the case that the Oil Companies are 25 

running is on the basis that it is seeking a planning regime in mind of 
the potential for a new corridor or in a different location? 

 
MR TAYLOR:   Yes, the challenge with new corridors is getting access to the 

land.  At the moment we have various rights, easements and other 30 
property rights for the existing pipeline route.  But to try and re-
establish those in a different location is quite difficult and time 
consuming.  So, you know, I think the default position would be to use 
the existing corridor as much as possible. 

 35 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 
 
MR TAYLOR:   But if we had to go, you know, for whatever reason to find 

another corridor then we would have to pursue that option too. 
 40 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I might have some follow up questions of 

Mr le Marquand around reverse sensitivity and that sort of area.  Thank 
you very much. 

 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you, Mr Taylor, you may stand down. 45 
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MR TAYLOR:   Thank you. 
 
<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [9.59 am] 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Mr le Marquand. 5 
 
<DAVID WILLIAM LE MARQUAND, sworn [9.59 am] 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Your full name is David William le Marquand? 
 10 
MR LE MARQUAND:   Yes, sir. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   You have filed a written brief of evidence? 
 
MR LE MARQUAND:   I have. 15 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Dated 25 November last? 
 
MR LE MARQUAND:   Yes. 
 20 
SIR HANSEN:   And you confirm the contents of that are true and correct? 
 
MR LE MARQUAND:   I do, sir.  There is a - - - 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Correction? 25 
 
MR LE MARQUAND:   There is a couple of corrections, there was a spelling 

mistake I found on the plane - - - 
 
  [10.00 am] 30 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Just before we go on with this.  This is on behalf of Mobil and 

all the other oil companies, your evidence? 
 
MR LE MARQUAND:   Yes, sir, it is on behalf of BP and Z as well. 35 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you.  Now, if you could take us to the corrections. 
 
MR LE MARQUAND:   Yes, sir, there is one I have not been able to find 

because I did not have a pen on me when I was up in the plane and we 40 
got delayed this morning.  But there is supposed to be a “coastal” not a 
“costal”.   

 
SIR HANSEN:   All right, so it is a typo? 
 45 
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MR LE MARQUAND:   Yes.  And then there is a reference to policy 3.6.6, it 
is should be objective 3.6.6 in 8.5. 

 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you.  Now, give us your high level summary of your 

evidence, thank you. 5 
 
MR LE MARQUAND:   Yes, thank you, sir. 
 
 I think there has obviously been a lot been happening and movement 

occurring in relation to this so I had intended originally to try and focus 10 
and hone in on some of where things had got to with the wording but, 
seeing that is now all up in the air, I thought it would be better maybe 
just to focus on some of the key matters. 

 
 We are obviously looking at expert conferencing next week and 15 

obviously one of the key aspects of that will be determining some sort 
of base document we are going to be focusing on and you will see from 
what I have addressed in my evidence I have largely focused on the 
Christchurch City Council position and in response to that. 

 20 
 I will certainly be suggesting to the other parties that they may be a 

good place to start given that they have actually considered all the 
submissions in developing that particular framework.  And it has 
moved on in response to submissions since.  But obviously that is a 
debate we are going to have next week anyway. 25 

 
 And in terms of wording, sir, there is the - - - 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Well, we hope the debate is going to get very quickly past that 

and move on to substance. 30 
 
MR LE MARQUAND:   Yes, we do, and I do have some optimism that we 

will get some good response out of that. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you. 35 
 
MR LE MARQUAND:   But, as you know, sir, there are many ways to skin a 

cat. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   There is indeed. 40 
 
MR LE MARQUAND:   So I think one of the key themes that I picked up, in 

terms of a policy gap in the Plan, was I think underrepresentation of 
significant infrastructure, particularly in the strategic end of matters.   

 45 
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 Now there has been sort of, from what I can see, a degree of agreement 
in parties to get rid of the outcomes and the section 3.5, which I am 
happy to run with because it does make things quite a complicated sort 
of onion layer of things and it was very difficult to understand how 
would they function, particularly when you come back down to the 5 
consenting regime. 

 
 However, there is still a gap, if you like, in terms of the provisions for 

Strategic Objectives and that is where we had, through the 
infrastructure mediation, identified that there should be an opportunity 10 
for a separate infrastructure objective, which I support.  At the time 
when it was debated there it was an either/or option.  Mr Eman 
responded and said, “Well, no, you could have both” and that is my 
position as well, I think we should have both.  One relating to the land 
use pattern aspects and one in relation to the strategic nature (ph 3.52) 15 
and for the significant infrastructure in terms of its own self, which is 
quite important when you are dealing with the lower levels down the 
track. 

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Do you mean quite important when you are dealing with 20 

the - - - 
 
MR LE MARQUAND:   Consenting aspects. 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Consenting aspects, and what about the provisions of the 25 

Plan that we come to later, does that two policy approach inform that as 
well?  One on land use, infrastructure, integration and whatever one on 
- - - 

 
MR LE MARQUAND:   Yes, I think what you will do, and you will be having 30 

some debate about the land use issues as well around infrastructure, I 
think what it will do it allows some of those differentiations to be made 
a lot more apparent and clear later on.   

 
 For instance, I think one of Mr Eman’s recommendations about 35 

sensitive activities around large volumes of hazardous substances.  For 
instance, that can come down and there can be some differentiation and 
some argument and clarification around what are we talking about, 
size.  

 40 
  [10.05 am] 
 
 Certainly I would not expect to see, for instance, that that would apply 

in a situation in a service station.  In Christchurch 50 percent of service 
stations are in living zones already and they have been that way for a 45 
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long time and if there is not really a perceived issue, then it is not really 
a significant risk issue in relation to that.   

 
 Obviously when you get into an internal situation, that is an above 

ground storage, we are in a different scenario. 5 
 
 So there was some, I think, key things that came through that were 

driving that and that was importance in terms of having that standalone 
infrastructure provision, and not having it just subjugate through the 
requirement to be focused on land use pattern, and that is the 10 
standalone provision. 

 
 There are a number of issues around land use, around hazardous 

facilities, sir, (INDISTINCT 0.59) mentioned about the Wiri example 
and that was certainly a situation where the goal posts have shifted over 15 
time, and the Board of Inquiry was looking at that new situation but the 
decision for the Women’s Prison in the first instance did not address it, 
but the Board of Inquiry recognised it when they were looking at it for 
the mens prison, and they said, Houston, there is a potential problem 
here, and so that then precipitated a whole dialogue on an issue and a 20 
relationship with Corrections on how we actually go about mitigating 
that particular risk. 

 
 And as a consequence of that, MB got involved as well and they were 

even looking at closing down the prison at one stage they were 25 
suggesting, which got everybody excited, and the situation is that there 
has now been agreement to put some leading edge technology in terms 
of the storage facility, both in terms of ducted overfill, which is a big 
drain pipe, so that if the tank overflows which causes a (INDISTINCT 
2.11) scenario that you are not going to get cascading and vapour 30 
generation and a potential cloud moving along and being ignited.  It 
just brings it to ground. 

 
 And also gas detection that can pick up any vapours, and the gas 

protection has been installed now, and the program of ducted overfill is 35 
advancing, there is one tank already been installed and then there are 
three to be installed next year.  

 
 So in all of that and through all the risk assessment, what that has 

highlighted that is notwithstanding the issues of potential vapour cloud 40 
explosion for that, in terms of some risk analysis that provided you do 
not have sensitive activities, the level of risk is acceptable for industrial 
type activities in and around the area, but not if you have sensitive type 
activities which obviously a prison is, hospital, those sorts of things, 
residential activities. 45 
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 And hence that is one of the – and then if I just try and pick up some of 
that, you might want to help me here, sir, but your question in relation 
to what is happening nationally in relation to those matters. 

 
 At the moment, you would be aware that MFE are suggesting that the 5 

issue of hazardous substances be downplayed through the RMA, but 
they are saying well there is still a role in relation to risk, but my 
reading of the situation at the moment is they are driving nationally a 
look at the issue of risks. 

 10 
 MB are, as you have heard, are looking at some regulations but they 

have only relaxed to the regulation of the hazardous facility itself, it is 
not picking up in relation to the land use matters. 

 
 The thing that MB are looking at in terms of my understanding, is that 15 

they will have a sort of consultative role and be able to point out to the 
councils where there is an issue.  But it is not going to be in terms of 
any regulatory one, or even necessarily a policy one, that they will have 
any sort of framework.   

 20 
 So that is one of the reasons why in the Auckland situation, we went 

with the New South Wales land use criteria, had that criteria to apply to 
that situation, and were also looking at introducing through the industry 
plan, an overlay, emergency management overlay around the facility to 
ensure that (a) sensitive activities are flagged as not being appropriate 25 
in that location, and the people are aware of the potential hazard in 
terms of their own responsibilities for exercising emergency 
management, and they understand the nature of the type of risks that 
are involved in that particular location. 

 30 
  [10.10 am] 
 
 And then as occurring at Wiri at the moment, there is a process by 

which there is regular exercises and testing of alarm systems around 
that area.  So people have some basic means to address emergency 35 
management.  One of the things you do not want to do, for instance, is 
go towards the hazard, if it is a vapour cloud issue you do not want to 
go and present a potential of risk.  So the template that is looked at in 
terms of emergency management planning is people have to leave by 
moving away from the hazard. 40 

 
 The issue of natural hazards.  I have addressed the issue and concerns 

relating to the avoid and reduce approach, and my concern basically is 
how that may be used in terms of the consenting objective, and it will 
be used and the problem is that it is a very difficult way to pass 45 
through, particularly if it is going to be a discretionary activity or a 



 Page 903 

  
Christchurch Plan Independent Hearing Venue, Christchurch 11.12.14 

non-complying activity, it acts as a gateway test to be able to get 
through, and hence, the idea that we try and introduce a way through 
that, through the word ‘manage’. 

 
 It comes back to trying to understand the nature of the strategic 5 

objective and how that is supposed to function and at the moment, to 
me, these objectives will still be used in terms of consenting processes, 
there is nothing in there saying these are not valid in terms of that, in 
terms of that RMA. 

 10 
 So if the intention is to be strategic, then I think from a drafting point of 

view, and we can have this discussion next week with the planners, but 
it may be that you have something that is slightly more generic in terms 
of the way you apply it.  So the particular objective, if the overall goal 
is to avoid and reduce, then maybe what we are talking about is 15 
actually having a land use pattern in relation to Christchurch in its 
recovery and development that overall reduces that, and that is the 
focus, not as a particular provision that is going to be applied in every 
particular situation and circumstance, particularly, significant 
infrastructure. 20 

 
 So without getting into the sort of drafting of the words, I think that is 

where we could end up going. 
 
 And I also thought that the issue relating to the mandate from the 25 

higher order documents, and particularly the RPS, was something that 
did not necessarily lead you to an avoid and reduce paradigm, and I 
have seen also the statement from ECan relating to the changes to the 
RPS under Action 46 of the LURP, and I think that is also another 
signal, and the Council has to respond to that at the moment to find out 30 
how they want to deal with it, but I have taken that as I pleased, that it 
is a sort of flag that will be specific recognition there for the 
maintenance of grading of critical and significant infrastructure, need to 
be considered when you are looking at those matters. 

 35 
 And lastly, sir, I picked up on the objective in relation to 3.6.6 which is 

amenity and safety, and it raised the issue about the position of 
hazardous substances and whether it needed to be in there at this 
particular time given that debate around the hazardous substances is all 
going to occur in the next stage.   40 

 
 Council has rejected that, but I did notice in Mr Eman’s evidence when 

relating to rural issues, he used the argument that well, we are dealing 
with it later so we do not need to deal with it now.   

 45 
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 So my position is well, if there is a need to, presumably we can come 
back and revisit it if we have to in the context of the next stage.  And if 
that is the case, then we can live with it in the interim. 

 
 And the other matter that I did raise, which was not necessarily within 5 

the scope of the Oil Company submissions, but was in terms of further 
submission from the Port Company was the reference to protect and 
enhance in terms of amenity, and I was particularly, I guess, concerned 
about that issue of protection of amenity versus maintenance and 
enhancement. 10 

 
  [10.15 am] 
 
 When you are thinking in the context you heard from Mr Cameron in 

terms of new tankage, and if you have got to protect the amenity from 15 
those hills and you put in a tank that could block part of the view of the 
sea, then that could start causing a particular impediment, so that is 
where I was looking at the Port Company’s view that it needs to be 
considered within the context, and the context in Lyttelton Port would 
be that it needs to be a functional port.  20 

 
 Thank you, sir. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you. Ms Dawson? 
 25 
MS DAWSON:   Just one thing, Mr le Marquand, thank you. You mentioned 

in your evidence, and I cannot remember where it is, but that there is a 
rule or provision that would make the upgrading of the pipe line and 
storage infrastructure prohibited, and I know we will come to this later 
but if we could just have an indication of the type of rule or provision 30 
that your comment applies to. 

 
MR LE MARQUAND:   Right, I think that is in 5.10, that is relating to the cliff 

hazard, there is an overlay along the cliff hazard which includes part of 
Mobil’s landslide, and a number of the Z Energy tanks along the base 35 
of that cliff.  And also the pipe line cuts through one end of it where it 
is proposed to be prohibited. So under that rule in 5.5.10, as currently 
drafted, it would be a prohibited activity to basically disturb any soil, so 
with an underground pipe line it is very hard not to do anything without 
doing that, and the same with the foundations on the tank if you need to 40 
do anything with the tank or the pipe work or upgrade the bunds, you 
could end up disturbing some soil, and there is some reference to not 
having any new structures in there as well. So if it is prohibited, well, 
you cannot of course - - - 

 45 
MS DAWSON:   And this is all at the Lyttelton end of the - - - 
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MR LE MARQUAND:   That is around the base of that cliff.  
 
MS DAWSON:   Yes. 
 5 
MR LE MARQUAND:   Yes, I think there is no doubt there is some issues 

relating to risk there, but the question is whether that should apply as a 
prohibited activity status for significant infrastructure.  

 
MS DAWSON:   All right, well, we will come to that, but that gives us a 10 

context. 
 
MR LE MARQUAND:   Yes, we will address that. I am pretty optimistic that 

that will be looked at favourably on the basis that Council managed to 
put an exception for its own infrastructure in that area, so presumably 15 
that might carry through. 

 
MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you very much. That is all from me. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you. Dr Mitchell? 20 
 
DR MITCHELL:   Thank you, sir. 
 
 Good morning, Mr le Marquand. 
 25 
MR LE MARQUAND:   Morning. 
 
DR MITCHELL:   Can I start at page 5 of your evidence – sorry, not of your 

evidence, of your appendix, please.  
 30 
MR LE MARQUAND:   Appendix, which one, sir? 
 
DR MITCHELL:   The one with the plan provisions, I am just trying to see 

what - - - 
 35 
MR LE MARQUAND:   C? 
 
DR MITCHELL:   Yes, the one that is got the strategic infrastructure objective.  

That one that is on the screen in front of you. It is the mediation 
document. 40 

 
 Now, just talking definitions for a minute, you are aware that there is a 

strategic infrastructure definition in the Plan? 
 
MR LE MARQUAND:   Yes, sir. 45 
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DR MITCHELL:   And that in relation to your client’s interests, strategic 
infrastructure includes bulk fuel supply and storage infrastructure, 
which presumably means the terminals, the pipe lines, the facilities at 
the wharf, so they would be covered under the definition of strategic 
infrastructure. There is also a definition of critical infrastructure, which 5 
includes petroleum storage and supply facilities and gas storage and 
distribution facilities.  

 
 You made mention when you were doing your summary about petrol 

stations and they have petrol storage tanks, they have LPG cylinders, a 10 
number of them, would they be considered to be critical infrastructure 
under that definition? 

 
  [10.20 am] 
 15 
MR LE MARQUAND:   I know I have looked at that. It is one of the reasons 

that I raised in my evidence about deleting the reference to the Civil 
Defence Emergency Management Act and the definition that had been 
advanced because that relates to entities, so I would not like to see, for 
instance, petrol stations be considered to be strategic infrastructure. 20 

 
DR MITCHELL:   Would you see them as being critical infrastructure?  I mean 

would your client’s be anticipating further down the process of saying 
that because of the definition of critical infrastructure petrol stations are 
critical infrastructure for the purposes of the Plan? 25 

 
MR LE MARQUAND:   They may, but whether I would support it might be a 

different story, but the - - - 
 
DR MITCHELL:   Well, I guess that is what I am trying to ask, is do you think 30 

it is appropriate that that debate be left open and that there should be 
some further guidance in the definition as to what critical infrastructure 
is? 

 
MR LE MARQUAND:   I would be happy to explore that, sir, because if you 35 

look at the Civil Defence Fuel Plan, for instance, up in Auckland, what 
it does is nominate some key service stations on the basis of supply, 
because you have got to be able to get the fuel to your emergency 
services and all those sorts of things, and there were a number of 
service stations that are nominated there and part of the reason, and to 40 
be able to be nominated they have got to be able to have their own 
generation to be able to pump petrol and so on if there is a power 
failure and all that sort of thing, but that is not (INDISTINCT 1.50). 
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DR MITCHELL:   So just to cut to the chase then, you would support some re-
visitation of what critical infrastructure was for the purposes of the Plan 
definition? 

 
MR LE MARQUAND:   I would be happy to get that element tightened up, I 5 

would not want to see an argument that a service station in any and 
every location is critical infrastructure and therefore - - - 

 
DR MITCHELL:   All right.  You would be aware too that infrastructure itself, 

even though critical infrastructure and strategic infrastructure are 10 
defined, and in your mediated option B the terms are used together a lot 
of the time, as is infrastructure generally, but infrastructure is not 
defined in the Plan other than in respect of rule 5.10.1 as I understand 
it. 

 15 
MR LE MARQUAND:   Yes, sir. 
 
DR MITCHELL:   Is that also something that should be looked at? 
 
MR LE MARQUAND:   Yes, well, at the lower level we picked up that issue 20 

in relation to the definition of infrastructure and how it is very narrow 
because it is only giving effectively an entitlement or exemption under 
5.10.1, so we picked that up and it only applies to that. 

 
DR MITCHELL:   All right. Second topic - - - 25 
 
MR LE MARQUAND:   Sorry, is that? 
 
DR MITCHELL:   No, that is fine, I understand that, thank you. 
 30 
 Second topic concerns risk, in particular in relation to natural hazards.  

You, through your evidence, used the concept of management, which I 
understand the rationale as set out in your evidence, but the question I 
put to Mr Taylor is management means different things to different 
people.  Is your concept of management something along the lines of, 35 
that you avoid risk where it is necessary to do so and where you can, 
and that you otherwise reduce it to the extent practicable? I do not want 
to go into a drafting war or words, but is that what you mean by 
management? 

 40 
MR LE MARQUAND:   Yes, I think I am thinking of – you know, I am very 

familiar with the process that is been gone through and it is very much 
that sort of approach.  If you look at the HIPAP stuff on risk, it is 
avoidable risk and then obviously you cannot, therefore then you start 
doing other stuff.  45 
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DR MITCHELL:   So given that we want to be concise and precise in the 
language that we use, something along the lines of the conversation we 
have just had might be ground for fruitful discussion next week, do you 
think? 

 5 
MR LE MARQUAND:   In terms of having it avoided in the first instance? 
 
DR MITCHELL:   Well, something that captures something that is more 

precise than what you’ve set out in your evidence. 
 10 
MR LE MARQUAND:   Well, I am certainly open to that discussion.  It 

depends obviously where all the other parties are going to come to on 
that. 

 
DR MITCHELL:   All right, thank you.  And finally, have you had a look at 15 

the order in Council that sets up this hearing process, and in particular 
schedule 4 that sets out the Minister’s Statement of Expectations as to 
the document? 

 
  [10.25 am] 20 
 
MR LE MARQUAND:   I have not seen any detail. 
 
DR MITCHELL:   I do not know if you have got, I think there might be a copy 

somewhere, I just want to ask you a couple of questions about that, - - - 25 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Can we bring that up - - - 
 
DR MITCHELL:   - - - your planning view on those matters, that is schedule 4.  

It will be on the screen in front of you and I will give you time to read 30 
it, but it says, “The expectations of the Minister include”, and then 
under (a) it says, “It clearly articulates how decisions about resource 
management use and values will be made including things like 
minimising reliance on resource consent processes, prescriptiveness” 
and so forth, which we colloquially said during the course of the 35 
Hearing means, minimising red tape in subsequent processes.  

 
MR LE MARQUAND:   Yes. 
 
DR MITCHELL:   And if we go down to the bottom to (i), there is also a 40 

requirement, “to use clear concise language and is easy to use”.  The 
two questions I have for you, do you consider from a planning point of 
view, that there is anything in the Council version as presented by 
Mr Eman, that addresses (a)? 

 45 
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MR LE MARQUAND:   I think that is something I would have to give some - 
- - 

 
DR MITCHELL:   Well, that might be something you can talk about next 

week.  And secondly, to what extent do you think, the Plan uses clear, - 5 
at Mr Eman’s version, contains clear and concise language which I take 
to mean eliminates planner speak to the extent that it is reasonable to 
do so. 

 
MR LE MARQUAND:   To eliminate the planners. 10 
 
DR MITCHELL:   That might be a good idea. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   That would get this process over very quickly. 
 15 
DR MITCHELL:   Do you think it is clear and concise the way it is worded? 
 
MR LE MARQUAND:   It is in places.  You know, I will have a bob each 

way, you know, I would not throw everything out but I am sure there is 
room for improvement on a lot of it, and I guess that is one of the 20 
concerns – put 16 planners in a room, what is going to come out at the 
end of it. 

 
DR MITCHELL:   Hopefully only one of them. 
 25 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Nothing that looks like or smells like a (INDISTINCT 

3.01). 
 
MR LE MARQUAND:   You know, in terms of trying to accommodate the 

various positions and understanding people, the way that it has to be 30 
developed, and as I see it at the moment, you go through a process 
where some of the stuff that has been drafted has not necessarily 
understood the arguments or the positions of those things.  They have 
just written a response but we have not got what is at the end of that 
place of understanding precisely those things. 35 

 
 I think once that is clear, then you can then get into the position of 

forming positions and you can make those succinct, and then parties 
can obviously support them or oppose them and look for something 
else. 40 

 
DR MITCHELL:   All right.  Just finally on that.  We have three complete 

versions of the Plan put before us.  One is Mr Eman’s, the second one 
is one that has been presented on behalf of the Crown and the third one 
is one that has been provided by the Property Council, and various 45 
people have made comments on the appropriateness of each of those. 
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 Have you seen those other versions? 
 
MR LE MARQUAND:   I have, I have been through both those other two.  

Obviously to different degrees of scrutiny and my primary focus has 5 
been on the Council, that is usually set at the beginning, is that is the 
standard practice.    

 
 And you are effectively starting a – it is another plan assessment 

basically required to go - - - 10 
 
DR MITCHELL:   I guess my purpose of my question, is you have not done a 

comparative analysis as between those three versions insofar as they 
address the matters set out in schedule 4 particularly? 

 15 
  [10.30 am] 
 
MR LE MARQUAND:   I have done a wet thumb assessment in terms of how 

they deal with infrastructure, and they both deal with infrastructure. 
 20 
DR MITCHELL:   But you have looked at it in the narrow, and specifically in 

relation to infrastructure rather than the utility of the document - - - 
 
MR LE MARQUAND:   Yes, that is right, I have not done a (INDISTINCT 

0.27) complete function, no. 25 
 
DR MITCHELL:   All right, thank you, thank you, sir. 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr le Marquand, just on that last question, I guess repeat 

my question, in terms of that last question from Dr Mitchell, you have 30 
got the ability have you in terms of your role for your client to 
participate fully as an independent expert in the matter.  I took that 
from your brief anyway.  But perhaps with an encouraging word to 
look beyond the narrow scope of what you have looked at to date in the 
next exercise, and apply your broader skills as an expert. 35 

 
 And just on the screen there, I just want you to focus on paragraph (b) 

for a minute.  It contains objectives and policies that clearly state the 
outcomes that are recommended for the Christchurch district. 

 40 
 If that statement was not on the screen, and it was not a directive, do 

you consider that that is an imperative of any quality planning 
document, that it does exactly that? 

 
45 
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MR LE MARQUAND:   Well that is what – that is what objectives are 
supposed to do in my view.  You would be setting them up in response 
to the issues that you have identified and then you set up the basic 
outcomes that you want to achieve in relation to addressing particular 
issues. 5 

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   What value if any, do you think, is added by an objective 

or policy in a plan that simply repeats what part 2 of the Act does? 
 
MR LE MARQUAND:   It depends on – it is part of a coat hanger thing, it 10 

depends on - - - 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Let me examine the purpose of the coat hanger.  So an 

objective and policy that simply reflects part 2 of the Act, if a resource 
consent is required and matters under part 2 need to be considered, then 15 
the activity categorisation should look after that, should it not, it should 
describe an activity categorisation that allows part 2 to be applied. 

 
 Do you agree with that? 
 20 
MR LE MARQUAND:   Yes. 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Then if that is the case, do you see that an objective or 

policy that effectively repeats what part 2 says, adds anything? 
 25 
MR LE MARQUAND:   I think you would have to – I would not like to just 

make a blanket statement on that because I think it depends on the 
context of - - - 

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, I will bring you to a context, to be fair.  If you 30 

go to your page 32 which is your appendix C and which you have 
marked up, and you have marked up and talked about objective 3.6.6, 
objective on amenity, health and safety.  Can you take yourself to that.  
If it assists, this is the mediation document which might help.  

 35 
 So you recommended the word ‘protective’ come out and the word 

‘maintain’ to go in? 
 
MR LE MARQUAND:   Yes. 
 40 
JUDGE HASSAN:   In terms of the question of amenity values, have you done 

that to line up that objective with what section 7 of the Act says about 
amenity values? 

 
MR LE MARQUAND:   It does line up with - - - 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Is that why you have done it? 
 
MR LE MARQUAND:   No, no, the context that I was trying to indicate for is 

that I think protection is quite a high threshold test, and the context that 
I was giving it in relation to applying those issues in and around the 5 
need to put some additional tankage in - - - 

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 
 
MR LE MARQUAND:   - - - the Lyttelton situation. 10 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 
 
MR LE MARQUAND:   Have experience of issues when BP put some of their 

particular tanks in and the amenity matters that came up in relation to 15 
that. 

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   So you see it as too high a threshold in line with that 

evidence and that is understood. 
 20 
 I want to come back to some aspects of this in a minute, but assuming 

that change is made though, I wonder whether all we end up with is an 
objective that simply reflects section 7 of the Act. I guess the question 
then becomes do we need the objective at all? 

 25 
  [10.35 am] 
 
MR LE MARQUAND:  I think there was quite a lot of other iteration in that 

particular provision. 
 30 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Are you referring to (i) to (iii)? 
 
MR LE MARQUAND:  Yes. 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Right.  35 
 
MR LE MARQUAND:  So that is where you come back to the issue of the coat 

hanger and the more detail. If you just have those things on their own 
without the header and statement, you would lose some of the context, 
so sometimes you need the context to go down into the next level of the 40 
onion, if you like. 

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. Just in terms of looking at the introductory 

words though, it does not just provide a context, does it, it also adds to 
the meaning of the provision, and this is the more substantive question 45 
I have got for you about this. Does not a general objective that requires 
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– well, you clearly made the point around protected amenity values, but 
even a general objective that requires that residents and the amenity 
values they enjoy are maintained and enhanced, does not such an 
objective applying across the district, through all zones, whether it is 
heavy industrial through to some of the more higher amenity zones, if 5 
you like, does not that put a very significant break on the capacity to 
change the environment if it always comes back to an imperative that 
the amenity values are maintained or enhanced? 

 
 I suppose putting it to you a bit more clearly, does not that take the 10 

position actually quite a bit further than what section 7 does in terms of 
amenity values and the balance of other matters? 

 
MR LE MARQUAND:  The way I would see – there is a risk of that - - - 
 15 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, is not it a fairly significant risk? 
 
MR LE MARQUAND:  Yes, and the submission that we were supporting in 

relation to that talked about the context, viewing it within a particular 
context, but there is the qualification if you like, those sub-matters, 20 
parts (i), (ii), (iii) there - - - 

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   You are being rather apologetic for this policy, I am just 

wanting you to sort of – are you saying you defend it even though it is 
not your policy or are you saying you can see some issues in it that 25 
warrant further consideration? 

 
MR LE MARQUAND:  I can certainly see some issues with it and I am sure 

we will have some debate about that next week, and if I were to redraft 
it or had the ability to redraft it I probably would not necessarily have 30 
those in there. 

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, thank you. Sorry to interrupt. So just complete that 

– if you had the ability to redraft it you would? 
 35 
MR LE MARQUAND:  Yes, I would. 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   The last words that have gone in there in black tracked 

change, which are not again your words, but are words that have gone 
in by way of discussion, have you ever dealt with a situation where a 40 
client has asked you whether they have got existing use rights to 
proceed with something or not? 

 
MR LE MARQUAND:  Yes. 
 45 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Have you found it easy or difficult to give the answer? 
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MR LE MARQUAND:  It is never easy. 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Is one of the most difficult parts of that question whether 

it was lawfully established or not? 5 
 
MR LE MARQUAND:  Yes, that is if you can find the original District Plan or 

district scheme to begin with, it depends on when it was established. 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   So it requires a forensic exercise going back to the 10 

origins? 
 
MR LE MARQUAND:  And in terms of what records you have. 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Again, are not existing use rights provided for under the 15 

Act in section 10? 
 
MR LE MARQUAND:  Yes, they are, but you have got to be able to establish 

them. 
 20 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, so again the question becomes do you see the value 

in a policy when the Act already codifies a right?  
 
MR LE MARQUAND:  You mean about the lawfully established activities? 
 25 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, and what does recognising them add to what the Act 

already provides as a codified right? 
 
MR LE MARQUAND:   I think what that is trying to draw to distinction is that 

if you have already got an existing facility that is operating, then 30 
sensitive activities, you do not want them encroaching. 

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   So that is your understanding? 
 
MR LE MARQUAND:  Which is a different issue from obviously if you are 35 

establishing a new facility where you have the opportunity to make 
sure you go and place that in a situation where you are not – that is how 
I see that. 

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Given that is how you see it, from the context within 40 

which you see it, would you think the ordinary member of the public 
picking it up would get that context from the objective and how it is 
expressed? 

 
45 
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MR LE MARQUAND:  No, because, again, with the situation of the service 
stations for instance, I would not see that that would – you would want 
to be applying that situation there, the neighbour next to a service 
station and the living area would be going “what does that mean, does 
that mean I cannot put an extension on the back of the house or, what 5 
does it mean”. 

 
  [10.40 am] 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 10 
 
MR LE MARQUAND:  But I think the qualification in relation to the storage 

of large volumes is helpful and that would allow you to draw some 
differentiation in relation to that. 

 15 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Again, that all assumes, does it not, an awful lot about a 

context which you have from your discussions and your knowledge of 
context, which is not expressed at all in the objective. I am not asking 
you to defend the objective at this point. 

 20 
MR LE MARQUAND:  No, but these things also do not stand in isolation, they 

stand in the context of the Plan, and you have got to be aware and be 
mindful of the Plan as a whole. 

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. So I encourage you to look at that as well. 25 

Thank you. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   If you look at the higher level documents, the RPS, the LURP, 

Central City, Order in Council and the Statement of Expectations 
which you were referred to this morning, but as I understand it had not 30 
read previously, is there not a significant focus on them in enhancing 
the recovery in Christchurch? 

 
MR LE MARQUAND:  Yes. 
 35 
SIR HANSEN:   If you look at those documents in their totality, would you 

accept they are informing us that the normal business as usual type of 
plan is not adequate for Christchurch in its current situation? 

 
MR LE MARQUAND:  Yes, I think you could call it as a new broom. 40 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Who do you see as an audience for a plan? 
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MR LE MARQUAND:  It is anybody who needs to undertake some particular 
activity that invariably triggers a consent, so that will be a broad range 
from residents who probably would interface it probably once in a 
lifetime to people who are dealing with it all the time.  

 5 
SIR HANSEN:   But it is a plan for the people of Christchurch, is it not? 
 
MR LE MARQUAND:  It is. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   You would accept that? 10 
 
MR LE MARQUAND:  Yes. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Yes, thank you. 
 15 
<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [10.42 am] 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Mr Cleary? 
 
MR CLEARY:   Good morning, sir, your Honour, Members of the Panel, I am 20 

here on behalf of – sorry, am I doing - - - 
 
SIR HANSEN:   No, no, the witness is finished. I thanked him, I am not sure 

what else I am meant to do. I am not quite sure it calls for applause or 
anything. 25 

 
MR CLEARY:   No. 
 
MR LE MARQUAND:   I thought he was going to ask me a question. 
 30 
SIR HANSEN:   No, he’s not down to cross-examine. 
 
MR CLEARY:   I appear on behalf of Eros Clearwater Holdings and 

Clearwater Land Holdings Limited. I have prepared an extremely short 
synopsis of submissions. 35 

 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you. 
 
MR CLEARY:   It is one and a half pages long, it should occupy no more than 

three or four minutes of your time. 40 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you. 
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MR CLEARY:   May it please the Panel, it seems beyond dispute that the 
Panel cannot make a decision that is inconsistent with the Land Use 
Recovery Plan, and that is section 23.1(f), and this is further enshrined 
in my submission by section 24.5 of the same Act.  

 5 
 Despite the above, the Panel has been asked to make a decision that is 

directly inconsistent with the Minister’s decision in the LURP to 
include, in the interests of recovery over the period 2013-2018, a 
specific exemption for Clearwater within policy 6.3A.7 of the 
Operative Plan.  10 

 
 There can be little doubt, in my submission, that the issue of the 

exemption and any possible tension or inconsistency this might create 
with a singular provision of the Regional Policy Statement was 
squarely in the minds of all of the UDS partners, including the Council, 15 
when making a decision on the preliminary draft LURP in April and 
May 2013, and secondly, more recently the Minister when making his 
decision on the final LURP in early December 2013. 

 
  [10.45 am] 20 
 
 The Minister’s decision and supporting documents clearly record that 

the exemptions in the draft LURP of 2 August 2013 should be retained, 
including the exemption for Clearwater.  As with the preliminary draft 
LURP approved by the UDS partners, comments by the Airport 25 
seeking to remove the exemption because it inserted inconsistency with 
policy 3.6.5.4 of the RPS were declined. 

 
 It appears that the only two parties opposing the exemption are 

effectively employing that its inclusion was something of an oversight 30 
in the 14 month long rigorous LURP process.  That in my submission 
cannot be correct, and if it was the Panel could reasonably have 
expected some explanation from the Council to that effect. And just 
add I think the Panel should have expected an explanation from the 
Council as to why it had included that exemption just over a year ago 35 
and now has decided to remove it. 

 
 Furthermore, the legal submissions on behalf of the Council and the 

Airport seek to make something of the fact that the Minister’s decision 
to provide the exemption related only to the Operative Plan, having a 40 
regard to the circumstances existing at the time of the Minister’s 
decision that is no more than stating the obvious.  That is there was no 
Proposed Plan that the Minister could amend at the time.   

 
45 
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 The LURP that goes direct with this Replacement Plan process follow 
as soon as possible after Gazette of the LURP.  Respectfully in my 
submission it is inconceivable to suggest it was not the Minister’s plain 
intention for recovery reasons at least the exemption should be carried 
over into the replacement, sorry there is a typo there, into the 5 
Replacement Plan.  An underlying concern appears to be that the 
exemption will provide for noise sensitive development at the resort. 

 
 To confirm and to make it very clear it never has, is not currently, and 

never will be my client’s intention to seek unlimited residential 10 
development rights at the Clearwater resort.  That would undermine the 
goal of an integrated resort containing the carefully planned balance of 
residential, resort, hotel, conference and other facilities, restaurant and 
international standard golf facilities. 

 15 
 At a policy level the exemption gives certainty to my clients that 

opportunities for ongoing development at the resort would not be 
foreclosed, and fundamentally in the context of the Replacement Plan 
our client’s seeks that certainly that they will not be stripped of the 
development rights enabled in the council initiated variation 93 to the 20 
City Plan, and any opportunity they may have to put their case for 
limited additional development to finalise the resort project will not be 
foreclosed in phase 2. 

 
 In my submission the proper and only course of action for the Panel to 25 

take is to include the exemption within the Replacement Plan and the 
extent of the exemption can be decided once the panel has a full 
understanding of all evidence relevant to the development at the resort. 

 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you, if you could call your witness please? 30 
 
MR CLEARY:   Yes, I call Jeremy Goodson Phillips. 
 
<JEREMY GOODSON PHILLIPS, affirmed  [10.48 am] 
 35 
<EXAMINATION BY MR CLEARY [10.48 am] 
 
MR CLEARY:   Thank you, Mr Phillips, can you please confirm that your full 

name is Jeremy Goodson Phillips? 
 40 
MR PHILLIPS:   That is correct. 
 
MR CLEARY:   That you prepared a statement of evidence on behalf of Eros 

Clearwater and Clearwater Land Holdings dated 25 November 2014? 
 45 
MR PHILLIPS:   Yes, that is correct. 
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MR CLEARY:   Do you have any corrections that you would like to make? 
 
MR PHILLIPS:   Yes, I do.  The first concerned paragraph 7.1 of my evidence, 

in that I have noted that a submission by the Airport on the draft LURP 5 
was not available due to confidentiality, that is no longer the case.  So I 
wish to delete paragraph 7.9 and replace it with the following words “I 
have reviewed CIALs submission on the draft LURP, as provided to 
the Minister.   

 10 
  [10.50 am] 
 
 This submission requests similar relief to CIAL’s submission on the 

preliminary draft LURP and raises the question of whether an 
exemption gives effect to policy 6.3.5(4) of the RPS. 15 

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   What was that? Just repeat that last? 
 
MR PHILLIPS:   I will reread that last sentence. 
 20 
JUDGE HASSAN:   It raises the question of whether - - - 
 
MR PHILLIPS:   It raises the question of whether an exemption gives effect to 

policy 6.3.5(4) of the RPS.  I have a further correction to make in 
paragraph 7.18.  I refer to appendix 3 in my evidence, and that should 25 
read appendix 4. 

 
 And the final correction, appendix 1 to my evidence included the 

airport’s relief sought on preliminary draft LURP.  Unfortunately when 
that was scanned it only scanned every second page and I understand 30 
Mr Cleary has - - - 

 
MR CLEARY:   I do have further complete copies of that. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you.   35 
 
MR CLEARY:   I am happy to provide these if required, or simply to file them 

with the secretariat. 
 
 And subject to the corrections you have made, can you confirm that the 40 

contents of your evidence are true and correct? 
 
MR PHILLIPS:   Yes. 
 
MR CLEARY:   And if you could please answer any questions from my 45 

friends or the Panel. 
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MR PHILLIPS:   Certainly.  Do you wish for me to provide a high level 

summary? 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Yes, yes. 5 
 
MR PHILLIPS:   I had an executive summary of my evidence and I think that 

covers most of the issues.  In terms of the key points of my evidence, 
Clearwater has been recognised (INDISTINCT 2.18) on the District 
Plan following assessment and decisions under the Resource 10 
Management Act 1991 suggesting development at Clearwater, and its 
exemption from certain airport noise provisions meet the sustainable 
management purpose of the Act. 

 
 An exemption for Clearwater in policy 6.3.(a) 7 concerning noise 15 

sensitive activities was considered and provided for through proposed 
amendments to the city plan, the preliminary draft LURP March 2013, 
the draft LURP in July 2013 and the finally gazetted LURP in 
December 2013, which suggests to me that those changes were 
unnecessary to achieve the recovery purposes, the CERA Act and the 20 
direction in the LURP. 

 
 Proposed noise contour policy 3.6.2.8(c) in the Strategic Directions 

Proposal as notified, directly conflicts with the LURP directive policy 
6.3.A.7 which distinctly exempts Clearwater.  It directly conflicts with 25 
the physically existing and presently zoned development at Clearwater, 
and most importantly, it may foreclose further and specific 
consideration through the phase 2 process if the merits of recognising 
and providing  for specific activities in specific locations at Clearwater, 
and mechanisms to avoid reverse sensitivity effects in particular. 30 

 
 So for those reasons retention and exemption for Clearwater as sought 

in the submission by Eros Clearwater Holdings Limited is appropriate 
for historical sustainable management and recovery of the related 
region. 35 

 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you.  Ms Paddock, is it? 
 
MS PADDOCK:   Sir, we no longer seek to cross-examine. 
 40 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you.  Ms Scott. 
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<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS SCOTT [10.54 am] 
 
MS SCOTT:   Thank you, sir, good morning Mr Phillips.  I am going to focus 

on one of the higher order documents being (INDISTINCT 4.00) Land 
Use Recovery Plan, do you have a copy of that in front of you? 5 

 
MR PHILLIPS:   The Land Use Recovery Plan, yes I do. 
 
MS SCOTT:   I take it from your evidence that you understand that a Recovery 

Plan prepared under the emergency legislation may include statutory 10 
directions requiring a council to amend an RMA document such as the 
Operative District Plan? 

 
MR PHILLIPS:   Correct, yes. 
 15 
MS SCOTT:   And that the LURP includes these types of statutory directions 

and that they are set out in appendices 1 through to 4 of the LURP? 
 
MR PHILLIPS:   Yes, correct.  
 20 
MS SCOTT:   If I can just take you to your evidence at paragraph 7.1.7, and 

there you said that the final version of the LURP approved by the 
Minister includes a direction pursuant to section 24.1(a) and (b) of the 
CERA Act, that policy 6.3(a)(7) of the operative plan be amended and 
then you set out the amendment and that of course includes an 25 
exception to the avoidance policy for the open space Clearwater zone? 

 
  [10.55 am] 
 
MR PHILLIPS:   That is correct, yes. 30 
 
MS SCOTT:   And that direction to amend the Operative Plan is found in – it is 

appendix 1, amendment 5 of the LURP, and I think that page is 
attached to your written evidence, that is appendix 4? 

 35 
MR PHILLIPS:   Correct. 
 
MS SCOTT:   You then follow in paragraph 7.2 of your evidence by 

paraphrasing the legal test provided in the CERA Act that all RMA 
documents including the - - - 40 

 
SIR HANSEN:   Sorry, what – seven point? 
 
MS SCOTT:   7.20, sir. 
 45 
SIR HANSEN:   Yes, thank you. 
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MS SCOTT:   So at that paragraph 7.20, you paraphrase the legal test that 

comes from section 23 of the CERA Act, that all RMA documents, 
including the proposed Replacement District Plan, must not be 
inconsistent with the LURP? 5 

 
MR PHILLIPS:   Correct. 
 
MS SCOTT:   If we can go back to the LURP please, Mr Phillips.  If you can 

turn to page 32, at the bottom of clause 4.4.3 which is in the section on 10 
delivery infrastructure and services, in the last paragraph, third 
sentence, it states, “The Land Use Recovery Plan requires councils to 
amend RMA instruments to prevent any new noise sensitive activities 
establishing within the 50 dBA noise contour, avoiding adverse health 
and amenity effects on residents and enabling the airport to safely and 15 
efficiently operate and to continue to develop and expand.” 

 
 If you turn to page 13 of appendix 1 of the LURP, and these are the 

amendments directed to the Canterbury Regional Policy Statement.  
See policy 6.3.5? 20 

 
MR PHILLIPS:   Yes. 
 
MS SCOTT:   So that policy, “Recovery of greater Christchurch is to be 

assisted by integration of land use development with infrastructure 25 
by…” and then in 4, we have, “Only providing for new development 
that does not affect the efficient operation, use, development, 
appropriate upgrading and safety of existing strategic infrastructure, 
including by avoiding noise sensitive activities within the 50 dBA noise 
contour for the airport unless the activity is within an existing 30 
residential E zone urban area.  Residential green build area identified 
for Kaiapoi, or a residential green build priority area identified in map 
A.” 

 
 To understand, Mr Phillips, that the LURP has also set a policy 35 

direction at the Regional Policy Statement level, that noise sensitive 
activities must be avoided under the 50 dBA contour, unless they are 
located within the areas listed as exceptions in that policy? 

 
MR PHILLIPS:   I do not read it strictly that way, I think the key aspect of that 40 

policy is where it talks about new development and I think, again, 
coming back to the submissions by Mr Cleary that the RPS 
amendments were drafted at the same time as those amendments to the 
City Plan, and I think the provisions in the City Plan in providing for 
Clearwater where there is an established range of developments, some 45 
of which, or most of which has been completed but some of which is 
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yet to occur, some which are subject to resource consents, is not the 
new development that part of the policy is primarily directed to.   

 
 I concede it is not explicit but that is where I see the distinction 

between the direction in the RPS policy around sort of new areas of 5 
development that could cause conflict within the noise contour. 

 
MS SCOTT:   You would recognise that one of those exceptions, which is 

residential greenfield priority areas identified in map A, some of those 
ar being rezoned for residential purposes through this process? 10 

 
MR PHILLIPS:   I would accept that but again they are new areas of 

development that were being provided for as opposed to considering 
existing areas of development. 

 15 
MS SCOTT:   Okay.  You will see in the methods on page 17, Council’s 

directed to include objectives, policies and rules if any, to give effect to 
policy 6.3.5.   

 
 Can we just go back to your written statement of evidence, Mr Phillips.  20 

You have given your view on the view of policy 6.3.5.  Can you 
explain why you did not consider that was necessary to do so in your 
statement of evidence? 

 
  [11.00 am] 25 
 
MR PHILLIPS:   My focus at that time was contextually in terms of the 

amendments of the City Plan in terms of the provisions there.  I 
probably can see on reflection, for the reasons I have probably just 
explained, it would have been useful to elaborate on the RPS in my 30 
evidence, that is a fair criticism. 

 
MS SCOTT:   Okay, no further questions. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you.  Ms Dawson. 35 
 
MS DAWSON:   I was going to ask you the same questions as Ms Scott about 

considering the RPS policy in your evidence.  So just to make sure I am 
clear.  The reconciliation that you, as a planner, see between these two 
different policies that have come from the LURP at the same time, one 40 
for the RPS and one for the Operative City Plan, hinges on that word 
‘new’ development? 

 
MR PHILLIPS:    Yes, hinges I think may be a fairly strong word, because I 

think when you read the Land Use Recovery Plan and indeed, the 45 
changes to the RPS in the round, and particularly where they are 
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concerned about strategic infrastructure and what it is doing in terms of 
enabling new development, the message I read in the round, is do not 
provide for a lot of new activity that is going to be incompatible with 
strategic infrastructure and in this case, the airport. 

 5 
 The explanations and reasons for the policy, I think, support that view 

where there is again discussion around new areas of development and 
from a commonsense perspective, if I can put it that way, the 
amendments that came out of the LURP were done at the same time 
and I guess that is my way of reconciling why there is that potential 10 
conflict or tension between policy 6.3.5.4 in the RPS and the 
amendments to the City Plan.  

 
 I would naturally have thought that they would have been compatible 

so that is I guess my explanation for why that difference exists. 15 
 
MS DAWSON:   And you did not think that was important to tell us about that 

in our written evidence? 
 
MR PHILLIPS:   Well as I say, on reflection, yes, it clearly would have been 20 

fairly central to it. 
 
MR DAWSON:   Just so that I am clear, some of the developments that the 

Clearwater would see maybe inhibited if this change is not made in the 
Proposed Plan, is development that consented, or permitted or provided 25 
for at the moment but has not yet happened? 

 
MR PHILLIPS:   There is a combination of development as I understand.  I 

think that stepping back again, the reason for the concerns with 
Clearwater is that at the moment there is a framework of rules that refer 30 
to the 50 dBA noise contour and have done for a period of time as a 
basis for dictating what development can occur and where it can occur, 
and that obviously – that rule was in place prior to the changes to the 
noise contours. 

 35 
 The noise contours were amended but that rule was not, and the 

consequence is that Clearwater is now fully within the 50 dBA contour 
and effectively the restrictions about activity that can occur in that area 
now encompass all of the development despite the original 
establishment of the resort and the entitlements there fully recognising 40 
that there would be some activity in proximity to the airport. 

 
 So there are some activities that have been recognised and provided for 

through the variation 93 and the operative provisions in the Plan around 
resort hotel activity and residential units within the resort, and there are 45 
reasons recognising the proximity of the airport, for example, and some 
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of the residential entitlements at Clearwater came from a transfer of 
development rights taking residential entitlements closer to the airport, 
sterilising those and bringing those into the resort. 

 
 So there is a lot of background that is provided for that, and so the 5 

effect of these changes to threaten that type of activity because there 
has been resource consents granted for development, some of which is 
currently under construction, the resort hotel bedroom development 
over there. 

 10 
 I have been advised, I think there is in the order of 11 or 12 residential 

units that are anticipated or provided for under the operative zoning 
that have not yet been developed, and I mentioned in my evidence that 
it was in the order of approximately 100 resort hotel bedrooms, but that 
figure may be twice that on the basis of some of the estimates that I 15 
have had. 

 
MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you.   Now one of the things that Mr 

Winchester indicated in his opening submissions, and I am not sure if I 
have got this exactly right, is that the exception for activities at 20 
Clearwater, in previous planning instruments, has only applied to the 
existing – and this is the policy exception – only applied to existing 
permitted activities in that discretionary and other activities that might 
come along through consent processes, even within the existing 
framework of rules, would need to be considered in light of the noise 25 
effects on the airport, amongst other things of course, whereas the 
amendment to policy 3.6.2, if it comes through, seems to be a bit more 
wide reaching, it sort of just provides a whole overarching exception at 
a policy level that would also apply to things that require consent. So I 
mean what is your interpretation of those differences? 30 

 
  [11.05 am] 
 
MR PHILLIPS:   I mean it is a fair question, I think it is sort of a double edged 

sword with how you word that exemption because until we know what 35 
comes forth through in phase two and the evidence behind what should 
be enabled and where it should be enabled and how it should be 
enabled and whether there are restrictions around reverse sensitivity, 
the risk is foreclosing that discussion at the Strategic Directions stage 
with a policy that is quite directive. 40 

 
 So I accept if it is just an open exemption it could be inferred that that 

is opening the door for all sorts of additional development at 
Clearwater, and as Mr Cleary’s submissions note, that is not the 
intention, but I think what exactly is allowed or is not allowed out there 45 
should be the subject of discussions in phase 2. 
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 The alternative scenario is putting some specific caps at this point 

around residential entitlements or resort hotel entitlements, but that is 
possibly too specific for a Strategic Directions policy and may 
otherwise, again, foreclose discussion around other activities that might 5 
be appropriate in discussing phase 2. 

 
MS DAWSON:   So in the long run, once we have moved through phase 2 and 

looked more specifically at Clearwater, it is possible that if there is an 
exemption at the Strategic Directions, it may be more tightly framed 10 
than the one that Clearwater has suggested for now? 

 
MR PHILLIPS:   Certainly, as I say I think the key issue is keeping that – is 

not sort of putting a Strategic Direction policy that is  a roadblock to 
further discussion, it is keeping that door open at the moment. 15 

 
MS DAWSON:   So in the Crown’s version of these, the Crown’s suggestion is 

to leave the sort of specific direction out of the Strategic Directions and 
put it into the policy provisions for the particular zones, and they have 
said that about not just this but other Specific Directions in policy 20 
3.6.2.8. What’s your view of that? 

 
MR PHILLIPS:   I mean for the reasons just stated I would again agree that the 

detail is appropriately dealt with in the chapter where it will be specific 
provision, rules, assessment criteria, there will be a policy that can give 25 
more explanation as to what’s restricted and why it is restricted, and 
that is – and here is not the place or the time to deal with that, so I 
simply support that sentiment. 

 
MS DAWSON:   Thank you very much. 30 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Dr Mitchell? 
 
DR MITCHELL:   Thank you, sir. Good morning Mr Phillips. 
 35 
 Just two questions. In terms of the existing zoning to the Clearwater 

properties, what level of permitted activity is contemplated there and 
what is requiring resource consent? 

 
MR PHILLIPS:   In terms of activities, it is 350 resort hotel bedrooms, and of 40 

those, 260 can be within the 50 dBA contour. 
 
DR MITCHELL:   As permitted activities? 
 

45 
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MR PHILLIPS:   As permitted activity subject to compliance with other 
standards, so there will be traffic standards and bulk and location 
standards, but in terms of activities that is sort of the key rule. There are 
also rules that specify the location within the resort where activities can 
occur, but in terms of this air/noise issue the fundamental issue is 5 
providing for 350 within the resort as a whole and then specifying how 
many of those entitlements can go within the 50 dBA contour and how 
many of those can go within the 52 dBA contour. 

 
DR MITCHELL:   Perhaps I could ask this question a little bit more 10 

specifically, and thanks for that answer. 
 
MR PHILLIPS:   Sure, yes. 
 
DR MITCHELL:   Does any expansion of the facility require resource consent? 15 

I mean can expansion be undertaken without resource consent? 
 
MR PHILLIPS:   Resort hotel or residential development beyond those limits 

would require consent as a non-complying activity. 
 20 
DR MITCHELL:   Thank you, but just coming back – I am not being quite 

specific enough. 
 
MR PHILLIPS:   Sure. 
 25 
DR MITCHELL:   There is the activity status for the activity and then there is 

the development controls. Is the combination of activity status and 
development controls, does that mean that in practical terms any new 
development would require resource consent, or can you do a whole 
bunch of stuff as of right? 30 

 
  [11.10 am] 
 
MR PHILLIPS:   No, sorry, my experience and my impression from the rules is 

that you would not be able to do any activity without triggering the 35 
need for a consent and there is, for example, a rule in relation to traffic 
volumes and the management of the intersection at Clearwater Ave 
with the State Highway, and that would require consent for any further 
development, so that is where there is, for example, difficulties with 
having a reference to permitted activities in the terms of as of right. 40 

 
DR MITCHELL:   Yes, I understand that, thank you. 
 
 Just following on from that, my final question, what does the existing 

zoning say about reverse sensitivity, vis-à-vis the airport? 45 
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MR PHILLIPS:   Sure. It acknowledges it quite squarely, so the environmental 
results anticipated for the zone talk about the creation a residential 
development node within the noise contour through the transfer of 
development rights from the Isaac Conservation Park, so it sets out 
some reasons as to why they have provided for it, it talks about some of 5 
the other wider benefits that were established at the time of developing 
the resort, they talk about being careful and considered in the location 
of activities spatially within the resort and relative to the airport, and 
capping residential and resort entitlements.  

 10 
 So it is quite explicit about limits on how much activity should occur in 

that area, but being quite clear that there were – that the airport, for 
example, was involved in the consultation and input to the variation 93 
which provided for those rights, and then also in terms of the 
mechanisms to manage those effects. So things like acoustic insulation 15 
requirements and, again, limits around the numbers of noise sensitive 
activities in relation to the resort. 

 
DR MITCHELL:   Does it have anything that goes as far as non-complaint 

covenants and those sorts of things? 20 
 
MR PHILLIPS:   The key rules, so there are critical standards which I have 

touched on about the limits of activity in terms of quantum, there is a 
critical standard 2.4.8, and there is 2.4.9 which prescribes a 
requirement for noise sensitive buildings, particularly resort hotels and 25 
residential units to be insulated from aircraft noise exposure. There is a 
constitution that applies and it is not subject to provisions in the Plan, 
but applies separately over residents which also has noise related 
controls in terms of centralising a complaints procedure through resort 
hotel management, for example, and preventing complaints, but that is 30 
not explicitly set out in the Operative Plan provisions at this point. 

 
DR MITCHELL:   All right, okay. Thank you. Thank you Mr Phillips, thank 

you, sir. 
 35 
SIR HANSEN:   Judge? 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   No, thank you, Mr Chairman. 
 
SIR HANSEN:  Anything arising from that, Ms Scott? 40 
 
MS SCOTT:   Just one question, if I may, sir. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Yes. 
 45 
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<RE-EXAMINATION BY MS SCOTT [11.13 am] 
 
MS SCOTT:   Mr Phillips, just putting aside what is currently allowed for in 

the Operative Plan, is your interpretation that the RPS policy does not 
allow any more development of sensitive activities at Clearwater on top 5 
of what is there now? 

 
MR PHILLIPS:   My reading of that policy in the round and in the context is 

that it does not anticipate additional development beyond what is 
contemplated in the zone, rather than what is physically on the ground 10 
at the moment. I think there’s a danger that it is really to say what is on 
the ground as of the date that policy came about, all further building 
must stop.  

 
 I do accept that the concern of that policy is, for example, to prevent a 15 

large scale residential subdivision at Clearwater on the basis that it is 
already got a resort, so what is the problem with it.  

 
MS SCOTT:   And that is because of the use of the words including by 

avoiding noise sensitive activities? 20 
 
MR PHILLIPS:   Yes, but again primarily coming back to where it talks about 

new development, I mean the driver in that policy are those opening 
words, in my view, where it talks about new development, so it is 
understanding the context at a Regional Policy Statement level as to 25 
what it is talking about in terms of new development. 

 
MS SCOTT:   Okay, thank you. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Now, re-examination, Mr Cleary? 30 
 
MR CLEARY:  Sir, thank you. 
 
<RE-EXAMINATION BY MR CLEARY [11.14 am] 
 35 
MR CLEARY:   Just in terms of when you referred to the context of the 

Regional Policy Statement, are you able to elaborate a little bit more on 
that having regard to, say, the background behind the proposed change 
- - - 

 40 
SIR HANSEN:   Well, that is hardly re-examination, it is not very specific, but 

we will let you put it, but it is not re-examination in my world. It is just 
a leading question.  But go ahead and answer. 

 
45 
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  [11.15 am] 
 
MR PHILLIPS:   I am not entirely sure- - - 
 
MR CLEARY:   Look, I will pass on that.  I just wonder- - -  5 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Well if you want to put a precise question, by all means do so.  

But re-examination arises from either the cross-examination, the 
Panel’s question or the additional questions Ms Scott put as a result of 
the Panel questions. 10 

 
MR CLEARY:   Right, okay.  Look I will pass on that actually.  The only 

matter that I wanted to ask was perhaps in response to the question by 
Dr Mitchell.  You mentioned something about the rural relating to 
traffic generation and the sort of the roundabout at Clearwater.  Are 15 
you able to provide the Panel with any sort of further comments of that 
in terms of an update? 

 
MR PHILLIPS:   Sure.  The purpose of explaining that Rule 1 was to sort of 

signal that there is a catch all rule so to speak that means very little 20 
activity is permitted, but if it is, I think in answer to your question is the 
rule is not really a handbrake so to speak to enact further development 
in the zone, a) because it is concerned with the performance of the 
intersection and traffic going through that intersection, and that has 
largely been resolved through works that NZTA are undertaking 25 
through that corridor at the moment, and I understand in roundabouts in 
the foreseeable future in that location, although the intersection 
improvements that will alleviate that issue, so, it is not a practical 
constraint to further development of the zone. 

 30 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Cleary, does that answer, is it a restricted discretionary 

activity or a discretionary activity – is that how we should understand 
that answer? 

 
MR CLEARY:   I think, well, it could require a little bit of explanation.  If, I 35 

am happy to- - - 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   It is just in terms of understand it, the answer was a 

handbrake and it is focused on traffic and I just want to know whether 
that is because the rule is that it is a restricted discretionary activity 40 
where those are the only matters to be considered, or whether the 
activity category is actually discretionary, in which case I will take the 
answer and its weight in a different way. 

 
45 



 Page 931 

  
Christchurch Plan Independent Hearing Venue, Christchurch 11.12.14 

MR PHILLIPS:   I can possibly assist with that.  It is a non-complying activity 
standard, so it does open for discretion.  I think the main point is 
though that the trigger for the rule will be resolved in the foreseeable 
future as a result of the roading improvements works.  So, at this point 
in time, non-complying activity granted that opens discretion. 5 

 
MR CLEARY:   And my understanding is that subject to the limits, in terms of 

residential units and resort hotels, that development would be restricted 
discretionary activity if that traffic rule was resolved.  I do not have any 
further sort of re-examination of the witness. 10 

 
 I do have one sort of minor matter and that is whether or not the Panel 

may be interested in a site visit to Clearwater? 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Personally, I certainly do not need one, but I will take advice 15 

from the rest of the panel and if we think it is appropriate, we will- - - 
 
MR CLEARY:   I am more than happy to arrange it. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   - - - ask you to arrange it for us.  We will let you know, thank 20 

you. 
 
MR CLEARY:   Thank you, sir. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you, Mr Phillips.  You may stand down. 25 
 
<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [11.18 am] 
 
SIR HANSEN:   We will take the morning adjourning for 15 minutes please. 
 30 
ADJOURNED [11.18 am] 
 
RESUMED [11.35 am] 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Yes, good morning. 35 
 
MR CARRANCEJA:   Good morning, sir, just a minor administrative matters. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Yes. 
 40 
MR CARRANCEJA:   Yesterday I filed a memorandum just to inform the 

Panel that there were a couple of amendments that were to be made to 
the central city recovery plan.  So that was gazetted this morning and I 
do have copies for the Panel.  It is really just we want to ensure that 
you have an updated set of the recovery documents, sir.  So I have six 45 
copies of an amendment to the noise and entertainment provisions of 
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the central city recovery plan and also the amendments to the South 
Frame.   

 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you. 
 5 
MR CARRANCEJA:   Thank you, sir. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Now, the Regional Council, Ms Mehlhopt.  We had indicated 

earlier that the opening legal submissions were to be brief and the 
closing ones on 5 January would be fuller so perhaps you will just 10 
speak to them. 

 
MS MEHLHOPT:   Yes, and my apologies for that.  We had indicated in a 

memorandum that was lodged that rather than present an opening 
statement and a closing legal submission we intended to simply appear 15 
once before the Hearing Panel with submissions and that is the way we 
have approached it today. 

 
SIR HANSEN:   Okay, it probably would have been after all the evidence had 

come in and then a closing but we have got it here now so you go to it. 20 
 
MS MEHLHOPT:   Yes, apologies, we were in correspondence with the 

Independent Secretariat in that regard about when we were to appear 
but - - - 

 25 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you. 
 
MS MEHLHOPT:   So these submissions are made on behalf of the Canterbury 

Regional Council, or ECan, and the matters that I deal with in the 
submissions are ECan’s interest in this proposal.  The relevant legal 30 
framework with a particular focus on the Land Use Recovery Plan and 
chapter 6.  Look at some key areas of concern with some of the 
proposed changes that are being sought to the proposal.  We also give 
an update on the changes to the RPS that are being proposed under 
action 46 and give an update on the memorandum that has been lodged, 35 
and just provide a brief note on the Lyttelton Port recovery plan. 

 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you. 
 
MS MEHLHOPT:   So ECan was part of the collaborative advisory group 40 

during the preparation of this proposal and provided comment 
throughout that process.  ECan lodged a submission in support of the 
notified version subject to some specific amendments.  And having 
considered the evidence that has been produced ECan does recognise 
the need for some amendments to be made in order to give a better 45 
effect to the RPS, and better enable recovery. 
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 Perhaps if I move to the relevant legal framework, if I could just – I 

will not repeat what has been outlined to date but to reiterate that there 
is a hierarchy of higher order statutory documents that require different 
levels of consideration.  But it is submitted that there is no serious 5 
tension between those relevant statutory documents and, whilst they 
may have been prepared in the context of different legislation, the 
outcomes sought by the various documents are not in significant 
conflict with other. 

 10 
  [11.40 am] 
 
 And of particular interest to ECan is that the Plan gives effect to the 

RPS and that any decision is not inconsistent with the Land Use 
Recovery Plan.   15 

 
 So turning to the Land Use Recovery Plan, I set out there in 

paragraphs 13 the purpose of the LURP, which I am sure you are all 
familiar with as people have spoken to that. 

 20 
 The LURP identifies actions and these actions are established to meet 

outcomes that are within the LURP, and I have attached a copy of those 
outcomes to the legal submissions as appendix 1 just for your 
reference. 

 25 
 Now, at paragraph 14 I submit that these recovery outcomes do not 

conflict with the other statutory documents that you are to consider and 
in particular the RPS.  So this Plan is required to give effect to the RPS 
and there is no disagreement that the phrase “give effect to” is a strong 
direction and requires positive implementation.   30 

 
 And in these submissions I will focus on chapters 6 and 11 which are of 

particular interest to ECan.  So looking firstly at chapter 6, this was 
inserted into the RPS under action 44 of the Land Use Recovery Plan.  
So in that sense chapter 6 is also a recovery document.  However, it is 35 
submitted that it goes further than the Land Use Recovery Plan and sets 
out the detail of how to achieve the recovery outcomes sought by the 
LURP in the context of an RMA document. 

 
 And at paragraph 19 I have set out an extract from the introduction to 40 

chapter 6.  And if I could just bring your attention to that second 
paragraph there, that the purpose of chapter 6 is to enable recovery by 
providing for development in a way that achieves the purpose of the 
Resource Management Act.  And this purpose is illustrated in the 
objectives of chapter 6 which I have summarised there at paragraph 20. 45 
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 And if I could go to paragraph 21 where it is submitted that chapter 6 
requires that both recovery and long-term sustainable management 
outcomes be achieved.  And further it illustrates that any decisions 
made now in relation to recovery will inform and set a foundation for 
the longer term growth of Christchurch. 5 

 
 So turning to chapter 11 which deals with natural hazards.  It provides a 

framework for managing natural hazard risk in Canterbury and, whilst 
natural hazards will of course be dealt with in more detail in the 
specific chapters, at this point I think it is important to note that 10 
method 6 of policy 11.3.1 does require the Council to set out objective 
and policies and may include methods to avoid new subdivision use 
and development that does not meet the criteria set out in that policy 
for known high hazard areas. 

 15 
 Now, those criteria in that policy provide some exemptions and require 

specific planning responses in particular circumstances and, as such, it 
is important that these planning responses are provided for and not 
foreclosed by the provisions of the Strategic Directions Proposal. 

 20 
 And I also note there at 25 that this approach is consistent with the way 

that the LURP addresses how natural hazards need to be managed and I 
have set out an extract from the LURP there. 

 
 So if I can now move on to look at some of the changes that are being 25 

sought to the strategic directions proposal with the Land Use Recovery 
Plan and chapters 6 and 11 of the RPS in mind.   

 
  [11.45 am] 
 30 
 Firstly, briefly looking at the structure of the chapter, here I would just 

like to simply highlight that there may be risks with structuring the 
proposal in the way that is proposed by the Crown and the Property 
Council, and that is, I term it the “silo approach”. 

 35 
SIR HANSEN:   Well that is the sideways integration you are talking about? 
 
MS MEHLHOPT:   Yes.   
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   And there are risks in the Council’s approach because of 40 

the vertical integration? 
 
MS MEHLHOPT:   There are risks in either approach. 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   So it is about careful drafting? 45 
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MS MEHLHOPT:   Yes. 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Right. 
 
MS MEHLHOPT:   And it is just highlighting there that an unintended 5 

consequence of that approach is a loss of integration and 
interconnectedness within the chapter between the topics, and that 
could have flow-on effects for the rest of the Plan, and just an example 
of this is in relation to key activity centres.  It is important to recognise 
that they are a focal point for community and services activities, as well 10 
as commercial activities, and I just note there that placing a key activity 
centre policy under a business objective, as is proposed, appears to 
focus more on business land supply rather than the wider role of key 
activity centres. 

 15 
JUDGE HASSAN:   What about the, just in terms of this risk issue, the current 

connection of both recovery and long-term within single policies – do 
you see risk in that area in terms of, or a preference for recovery being 
separated from the long-term? 

 20 
MS MEHLHOPT:   I see that there is value in both being dealt with together 

where they can. I think it is important that you do have that integration 
between the two, and in some aspects to separate those two matters out, 
there is a risk of, in my submission, things being lost.   

 25 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Does it not that come back to the drafting again? 
 
MS MEHLHOPT:   Yes, it does.  And it is simply highlighting an area that 

ECan has identified and I am submitting that it is something that the 
Hearing Panel should keep in mind, and I am sure that you are keeping 30 
in mind. And it is obviously something that is going to be dealt with in 
the expert conferencing that is being directed next week in terms of 
drafting. 

 
 If I could move on to natural hazards and some areas of concern in that 35 

regard.  I have noted earlier about the avoidance policy, 11.3.1 in the 
RPS and in those paragraphs 32 to 35, I just comment there on the 
proposal of the Property Council in their proposed objective and policy, 
where it is sought that “the risk to people, property, infrastructure and 
the environment from natural hazards is reduced to acceptable levels” 40 
and then in the policy there is reference to “manage to acceptable 
levels”, and it is my submission that this doesn’t provide clear direction 
that development is to be avoided in high hazard areas, subject to the 
exemptions provided for in 11.3.1 of the RPS. 

 45 
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 And again in that regard, this could have consequences for the 
consideration of appropriate planning responses in the specific chapter 
for natural hazards.   

 
 So again it is just flagging the importance of the natural hazard policies 5 

of the RPS and ensuring that the provisions that are included in this 
strategic directions proposal do not foreclose the consideration of these 
matters in this specific chapter.   

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Your submissions do not touch on whether or not the 10 

provisions in Mr Eman's draft give effect to the RPS or not.  Does the 
Council have a position on that? 

 
MS MEHLHOPT:   It is my understanding that the proposed version of that 

provision in Mr Eman’s evidence does give effect to the RPS. 15 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   But that is not based on any evidence that you are 

tendering? 
 
MS MEHLHOPT:   No.  ECan has not provided evidence on that. 20 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Or analysis of the Regional Policy Statement against the 

provision? 
 
MS MEHLHOPT:   No.  And that is acknowledged, yes. 25 
 
  [11.50 am] 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Is it just that the Regional Council wants to be seen to be 

aligned with the Council and Mr Eman’s evidence on this matter? 30 
 
MS MEHLHOPT:   No.  I would say that ECan has been involved as part of 

the collaborative advisory group in the preparation of the chapter, and it 
has been involved in discussions in terms of the drafting, and it has 
made the decision in terms of this proposal to present legal submissions 35 
and not present evidence in that regard, given its earlier involvement. 

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   So do I take that to be the Council’s position is neutral on 

the drafting so long as it gives effect to the RPS? 
 40 
MS MEHLHOPT:   That is the Council’s primary concern, that it gives effect 

to the RPS.   
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SIR HANSEN:   Just before we go on, there appears to be no mention of the 
Order in Council and in particular appendix 4, the Schedule of 
Expectations.  Does that mean that the Regional Council does not 
consider it important? 

 5 
MS MEHLHOPT:   Your Honour, it is certainly an important consideration, 

and it is something - - -  
 
SIR HANSEN:   But why is it not addressed in any way in your submissions? 
 10 
MS MEHLHOPT:   I have not address it in any way in these submissions as it 

is a matter that has been addressed by others, and it was considered that 
there was more valuing in providing comment on matters such as the 
Land Use Recovery Plan and the Regional Policy Statement, and 
making the submission that - - -  15 

 
SIR HANSEN:   But it would it not be useful if the Regional Council 

submitted to us on all of the higher level documents, just not selected 
ones? 

 20 
MS MEHLHOPT:   And given the time available and the approach taken to 

submissions, it was considered to be of more assistance to focus on 
particular matters.  And that is not to say that the statement of 
expectations is not an important - - -  

 25 
SIR HANSEN:   But you say it just does not impact on any of the submissions 

you are making? 
 
MS MEHLHOPT:   I guess in the context of the submissions that I am making, 

in my view the Statement of Expectations is not inconsistent with the 30 
outcomes sought by the Land Use Recovery Plan and chapter 6 of the 
RPS. 

 
SIR HANSEN:   All right.  So we can record that as the Council’s view?  Yes, 

thank you. 35 
 
MS MEHLHOPT:   If I could move to paragraph 36, and this is a comment on 

an option that came out of the strategic infrastructure mediation.  At 
paragraph 37 I look at an additional clause to the natural hazards 
objective 3.6.5, and again there is reference to “appropriately managed” 40 
in that regard, and again I do not need to dwell on this any further but 
just to highlight the avoidance policy in the RPS. 

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Just in terms of that though, did you hear the evidence this 

morning from the oil company representatives? 45 
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MS MEHLHOPT:   No, I was not in attendance this morning. 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Well take the fact that the critical oil pipeline from the 

port to the city facility has to go over the hills, which is an area that 
can’t be avoided in terms of a natural hazard risk, doesn’t the word 5 
“management” better give effect to the Regional Policy Statement in 
that context, in the sense that recognition of that assists to avoid the risk 
in resilience terms of the community of those facilities being 
compromised if they have to move? 

 10 
MS MEHLHOPT:   And I agree that there are instances where, and this is dealt 

with in policy 11.3.4 or the RPS, where there is no reasonable 
alternative.  I guess my submission is that having an objective that 
refers to “appropriately managed” in a Strategic Directions Proposal 
does not give any direction as to a need to avoid. 15 

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Why cannot management include “avoid”? 
 
  [11.55 am] 
 20 
MS MEHLHOPT:   Management could include avoid, but there is no strong 

direction there of the hierarchy that chapter 11 of the RPS provides. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   1.3.4 only seems to deal with new critical infrastructure, does 

it not?  The question has been put to you about existing critical 25 
infrastructure. 

 
MS MEHLHOPT:   My apologies, you are correct. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   So is there another one dealing with existing critical 30 

infrastructure? 
 
MS MEHLHOPT:   No, that is something that has been identified and I will 

raise that as part of discussion on the changes to the RPS under Action 
46. 35 

 
SIR HANSEN:   But one of the issues is we heard this morning, for example, 

there are areas where the pipeline goes where you are not allowed to 
disturb soil.  How do you repair a pipeline or maintain a pipeline, has 
this really been thought through?   40 

 
MS MEHLHOPT:   In terms of this particular objective in the Proposal.  The 

submission is simply that any provisions in this regard included in the 
Strategic Directions Proposal, do not foreclose the need to avoid and 
appropriate, or in particular circumstances that are provided for in the 45 
RPS. 
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 And in terms of existing infrastructure, there is a change being 

proposed to the RPS to acknowledge the importance of that.    
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   You have mentioned without stating them, what the 5 

exemptions in policy 11.3.1 are, and the avoid paradigm in there is 
clearly heavily qualified by those exemptions it seems to me, that the 
policy is not about avoidance, it is about avoidance inappropriateness 
given a whole bunch of factors that mean that in a lot of cases, 
avoidance is not necessary. 10 

 
 So does that not mean that they have got to be appropriately managed, 

are you not overstating the avoidance direction in that policy? 
 
MS MEHLHOPT:   I do not think I am overstating in terms of the hierarchy of 15 

avoid.  I do acknowledge and the policy acknowledges, that there are 
circumstances in which avoidance is not appropriate and that mitigation 
should be provided for.   

 
 So I think in terms of my submission, as far as I can take it at this point, 20 

is simply to highlight the importance of that policy and those others in 
the RPS, and to ensure that when natural hazard matters are considered 
as a specific chapter, that any objective and policy in the Strategic 
Directions Proposal, does not foreclose the consideration of appropriate 
planning responses to the policy. 25 

 
SIR HANSEN:   Well it gets back to this, the essential submission is that 

anything we do must give effect to the relevant parts of the RPS? 
 
MS MEHLHOPT:   Yes.  And at paragraphs 40 to 41, I look at the process 30 

provision that has been proposed.  I set out there that ECan does not 
take the position as to whether a process provision should be included 
or not.  However, just to - - - 

 
SIR HANSEN:   Do you find anything in the wording of the Order in Council 35 

itself or the other higher level documents, that say it is not appropriate 
to recognise from in the Plan or indeed in the Strategic Directions so-
called provisions? 

 
MS MEHLHOPT:   No, I agree with that. 40 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Right. 
 
MS MEHLHOPT:   And the point is simply- - - 
 45 
SIR HANSEN:   So then why would you not? 
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MS MEHLHOPT:   Yes, sir, there may be value in including that and my 
submission is simply raising, I guess, a red flag in terms of such a 
provision that it does not have an unintended consequence of removing 
requirements for resource consent when that is - - - 

 5 
SIR HANSEN:   But the effect of all of the higher level documents is to 

recognise the need for this Plan to enhance the recovery of 
Christchurch after an unprecedented natural disaster, and that the 
business as usual Plan, as I put to one of the earlier witnesses, they are 
really saying, that is not adequate, you need something better? 10 

 
MS MEHLHOPT:   Yes - - - 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Is it not? 
 15 
MS MEHLHOPT:   That is - - - 
 
SIR HANSEN:   And wouldn’t putting the process provisions in the Strategic 

Directions inform the whole of the Plan of that? 
 20 
MS MEHLHOPT:   And it may do, and in terms of the rest of the plan – the 

rest of the plan has been considered it is required to have particular 
regard to the Statement of Expectations, so that is something to take 
into account at that time when each chapter is being considered. 

 25 
 I am not submitting that having a process position in the Strategic 

Directions Proposal is inappropriate, all I am saying is that there needs 
to be care in the drafting of that. 

 
SIR HANSEN:   Well as I read your 41, the Regional Council is actually sitting 30 

on the fence in the matter. 
 
MS MEHLHOPT:   It does not take a position - - - 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Well, it is sitting on the fence in the matter. 35 
 
MS MEHLHOPT:   Yes, and that is on the basis that ECan has not provided 

any evidence in that regard. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   All right.  I am not quite sure how helpful that is to the Panel.   40 
 
MS MEHLHOPT:   It is simply - - - 
 
SIR HANSEN:   I think you go on with 43 please. 
 45 
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MS MEHLHOPT:   And so at paragraph 43, this is dealing with the proposed 
amendments to the Regional Policy Statement in accordance with 
Action 46 of the Land Use Recovery Plan. 

 
 A Memorandum of Counsel was lodged with the Hearings Panel as an 5 

update on this process.  Have you had an opportunity to read that 
memorandum.  I am in your hands as to whether I take you through - - - 

 
SIR HANSEN:   Well, I suppose the question is when is this amendment going 

to come through? 10 
 
MS MEHLHOPT:   So in terms of the position that we are in at the moment, 

the Minister has considered the changes in accordance with Action 46, 
and section 24 of the CERA Act. 

 15 
 ECan has also made a request under section 27 of the CERA Act for 

the Minister to make some ancillary changes to the RPS provisions, and 
they are to principle reasons and explanations and Statement of Local 
Authority responsibilities, which cannot be made under Action 46 for 
section 24 of the CERA Act, so that request is still with the Minister, 20 
and ECan is awaiting the Minister’s determination on that request.  

 
SIR HANSEN:   Are you able to assist us when any amendments are likely to 

come into effect and to what degree should they inform our 
considerations at this stage? 25 

 
MS MEHLHOPT:   CERA officials have advised that the section 27 request 

may be considered in January, there is no certainty in that regard, 
obviously I cannot provide a certain date for you.  The Council will 
consider, once it has a determination from the Minister, will consider 30 
that at its earliest available Council meeting.  It is obviously keen to get 
these changes sorted and into the RPS. 

 
 Sir, it may be a situation, once changes have been made in February, a 

best case scenario, I guess I would say, but it could be after that and 35 
once those changes are made, they are changes that this Plan will need 
to give effect to.  

 
SIR HANSEN:   All right, well, all we can ask is you keep us informed as 

urgently as possible of these matters, because it may fall into the 40 
revisitation provisions. 

 
MS MEHLHOPT:   Yes, and it is a priority for ECan to update the Hearing as 

things progress and to get these matters resolved. 
 45 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you. 



 Page 942 

  
Christchurch Plan Independent Hearing Venue, Christchurch 11.12.14 

 
MS MEHLHOPT:   And finally, I just have a brief note there on the Lyttelton 

Port Recovery Plan and this is obviously dealt with in the legal 
submissions in evidence for the Lyttelton Port.   

 5 
 The Recovery Plan is in its early stages of development, and at this 

point there is no requirement for the Hearing Panel to give it any 
weight, but it is simply something for the Hearing Panel to be aware of 
that once it is approved by the Minister it will be a relevant 
consideration. 10 

 
  [12.05 pm] 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you. 
 15 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, just a few questions on this process, Ms Mehlhopt. 

Starting with the concept that ECan is part of a collaborative advisory 
group, at paragraph 4, and I take from that effectively ECan has been 
involved and engaged to some extent and supports the current Council 
data on that understanding? 20 

 
MS MEHLHOPT:   Yes. 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   But if we take the issue of giving effect to the Regional 

Policy Statement, for instance, now Mr Winchester, in his submissions, 25 
made something of the fact that ECan supported the Council’s position 
on giving effect to the Regional Policy Statement. In your answers so 
far to our questions I think you have allowed for the fact that it is for 
the Panel to determine whether or not this document gives effect and 
the drafting gives effect to the Regional Policy Statement, do you 30 
accept that? 

 
MS MEHLHOPT:   Yes, I accept that that is a decision for you to make based 

on the evidence that you have before you. 
 35 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 
 
MS MEHLHOPT:   Yes. 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Yet, Mr Winchester’s submission invited us to give some 40 

weight to the Council’s position in support, and presumably you accept 
that that is a submission that he is entitled to make, is that what you 
say? 
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MS MEHLHOPT:   Yes, he is entitled to make that. ECan did lodge a 
submission in support of the notified version of the proposal subject to 
some minor amendments. 

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Presumably the force of that submission relates to the fact 5 

that you are the Council responsible for those superior documents in 
this region.  

 
MS MEHLHOPT:   Yes. 
 10 
JUDGE HASSAN:   So that really does focus, for me, a problem that I have 

currently got with the Regional Council’s approach. Not calling any 
evidence, presenting submissions in support of the current document, in 
a situation where it is for the Panel to determine what, if anything, 
should be finally approved, do you understand that? 15 

 
MS MEHLHOPT:   Yes. 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   So bearing that in mind, do you think that it is for the 

Council to endeavour to assist the Panel as much as possible, given its 20 
responsibilities, through this process? 

 
MS MEHLHOPT:   Yes, I think it is a responsibility of the Council to assist the 

Hearing Panel, and it did consider that it was assisting the Hearing 
Panel in taking the approach that it has, and given its involvement in 25 
the collaborative advisory group and the position that it had taken on 
the notified version of the Plan, a decision was made to – there are 
particular areas that ECan has sought changes on in the Proposed Plan 
and it will be - - - 

 30 
JUDGE HASSAN:   So finally, your election to make submissions at this point 

of the hearing, and perhaps it is in hindsight perhaps not best timing, is 
prior to the Panel receiving the output of expert witness conferencing 
on drafting issues concerning the various versions in front of the Panel. 
Given that timing, can you say to the Panel now whether the Regional 35 
Council will be in a position to assist the Panel further and provide a 
more considered and updated response to whatever the expert witness 
conferencing delivers, mindful that the Council itself will not be a 
participant because it has elected not to call planning expert evidence? 

 40 
MS MEHLHOPT:   Yes, and if it would the Hearing Panel to hear closing legal 

submissions following the expert conferencing, that can be provided, 
and I should say that a memorandum was lodged with the Panel in 
terms of whether ECan would provide an opening or a closing, and 
ECan was given this slot to present to the Panel. So there was a 45 
proposal that ECan provide closing legal submissions, in terms of 
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timetabling, we are not at the close of the hearing yet, so if the Panel 
would be assisted by closing legal submissions, they can be provided. 

 
  [12.10 pm] 
 5 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Can I urge you in doing that, to think about the 

importance of providing independent consideration to matters of 
drafting, so that the Panel is best assisted on these important questions 
about whether the document gives effect to the Policy Statement, not 
on the basis that that responsibility is dubbed by any concept of 10 
collaboration? 

 
MS MEHLHOPT:   Yes, we will take that on board. 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 15 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you. Ms Roberts for Foodstuffs. 
 
MS ROBERTS:   Good afternoon.  
 20 
 If I may also address a preliminary matter, Foodstuffs is in the same 

boat, sir, as ECan in that it indicated to the secretariat that it would 
simply present legal submissions and not be presenting evidence, and 
was allocated just one timeframe, and we understand this slot here for 
20 minutes.  25 

 
 In preparing our short submissions we have taken into account the 

evidence, however in light of the recent direction from the Panel that 
all the planners involved in the Strategic Hearing Proposal actually 
attend a mediation, we were going to seek the permission of the Panel 30 
today to file a memorandum with any specific changes sought as a 
result of a new version arising. 

 
SIR HANSEN:   Well, there are two courses, either that or we will overrule the 

secretariat and suggest that you actually be slotted in in closing. 35 
 
MS ROBERTS:   Sir, so that is what I was going to suggest, I am in your hands 

as to whether we simply stand down - - - 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Well, that would be preferable, would it not? 40 
 
MS ROBERTS:   - - - and prepare closing or we present today on the basis of - 

- - 
 

45 
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SIR HANSEN:   No, I think it should be left for closing, and we have already 
indicated we expect closing submissions from the Regional Council, 
and I am sorry if by slotting you in that right to close has been 
overridden because we made it quite plain at the pre-hearing that our 
preference was if people wanted to open they should be brief openings, 5 
but we were looking for the real assistance in closing after we had 
heard all of the evidence and submissions. 

 
MS ROBERTS:   Absolutely, and I understand that, and, sir, there might be 

other people in the same boat, for example my friend Mr Christensen, 10 
also from our firm, who has been slotted in to provide these 
submissions for (INDISTINCT 2.14). 

 
SIR HANSEN:   Well, if you would be good enough to advise Mr Christensen 

of our comments and if he chooses he may be excused this afternoon 15 
and simply address us in closing after we have heard all the evidence.  

 
MS ROBERTS:   Yes, sir. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you, we are grateful. Ilam and Upper Riccarton 20 

Residents Association? I’m sorry, Mr Harding, is it? Mr English, is it? 
 
 I am sorry, it is Mr English is it? 
 
MR ENGLISH:   That is right. 25 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Well, look you need to explain to us, what we have on file is 

what is purported to be a statement of evidence by a Mr Harding, who 
is said to be the Chairman, it is not signed, it is not set out in a proper 
form, and it seems to be more a submission than evidence because it is 30 
full of beliefs, which can only come from expert witnesses. So what is 
the position of your association? Are you here to submit to us? Are we 
to treat Mr Harding’s thing as evidence or what? 

 
  [12.15 pm] 35 
 
MR ENGLISH:   Well, apologies if there has been some confusion. We 

provided what we thought was evidence and then I - - - 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Well, then why is it unsigned? 40 
 
MR ENGLISH:   We were unaware that it had to be signed.  
 
SIR HANSEN:   Well, it is not evidence until he turns up and is sworn and 

confirms this. 45 
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MR ENGLISH:   Mr Harding is here.  
 
SIR HANSEN:   Well, you stand down and we will get the evidence in first 

will you please. 
 5 
MR ENGLISH:   Okay. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Would you come forward Mr Harding? 
 
<PETER HARDING, affirmed [12.16 pm] 10 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Just take a seat, Mr Harding. Your full name is Peter Harding, 

you have filed a brief of evidence, unsigned, dated 25 November 2014? 
 
MR HARDING:   Yes, that is correct. 15 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Can you confirm the contents of that are true and correct? 
 
MR HARDING:   I can. 
 20 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you. Now, the opportunity is given to everybody 

giving evidence to give a higher level summary of their evidence, do 
you wish to do that or do you wish to bow to Mr English and his 
presentation? 

 25 
MR HARDING:   I will bow to Mr English. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Because we have read this, so - - - 
 
MR HARDING:   You have? 30 
 
SIR HANSEN:   But if there is anything you wish to add to it, we were happy 

to hear from you now. 
 
MR HARDING:   No, I am happy to add anything that you – any questions that 35 

you might have. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   All right, thank you. So you will understand we had to do this 

to get this formally on the record. 
 40 
MR HARDING:   That is fine.  
 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you. 
 
<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [12.17 pm] 45 
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SIR HANSEN:   Now, we will do the swap. 
 
MR ENGLISH:   Apologies about the confusion, we obviously recognise now 

what the process is, because we will be reappearing so we will ensure 
that we do not have a repeat.  5 

 
 Perhaps it is a bit ironic what I am about to say, because obviously we 

are not doing it properly either. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Well, I think beforehand, this is going to be a presentation as 10 

a submission rather than evidence, is it? 
 
MR ENGLISH:   That is right, yes. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Right. Well, before you start, just for the record, because this 15 

is all being transcribed, identify your full name and what your role is in 
this association. 

 
MR ENGLISH:   I am Richard Spencer English and I am normally known as 

the Chairman of the Technical Group for the Ilam and Upper Riccarton 20 
Residents Association. 

 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you. Now, if you would proceed with your submission. 
 
MR ENGLISH:   We are one of the few associations that perhaps represent the 25 

general public at these hearings. So I would just like to make some 
comments about the process as we have found it so far. 

 
 As you can see from that first slide, it is somewhat of a daunting 

process, but the process soon changed into this sort of paper chase, as 30 
far as we are concerned, and then it eventually got to this situation. 
Now that might seem perhaps a bit silly to make that sort of comment, 
but in between the pre-hearing conference and now we have had the 
opportunity to talk to one or two lawyers and planners, perhaps behind 
the scenes, and they have described the process as you can see there. 35 

 
SIR HANSEN:   Well, if they are not named we are not interested in what they 

have got to say. If they want to say that about this process, that is fine, 
it is not our process, it is the Order in Council’s process, and if they 
want to say it let them have the courage to come forward and say it. 40 

 
MR ENGLISH:   I recognise that, and what I was about to say was in fact that 

they and everybody else recognise that you are being driven by an 
Order in Council, so that is not supposed to be a reflection on the 
Secretariat or the Panel, but it does describe the sort of situation that we 45 
find ourselves in, almost completely. 
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  [12.20 pm] 
 
 It is very, very difficult to keep up with what is going on, there is a 

huge amount of work involved, and we feel that in fact it actually lacks 5 
in fairness and equity.  

 
 The process should really be about the citizens of Christchurch, not just 

about the organisations that have sufficient personnel and financial 
resources to participate. So we feel that the outcome is really reliant on 10 
yourselves to ensure that the process is fair and equitable to all and it 
does not favour vested interests over those of the general citizenry, 
which I am sure we can rely on, but it is a point we would just like to 
re-emphasise.  

 15 
 So moving on to our actual submission and evidence, we are just 

addressing a few issues to do with definitions in the first place, and one 
is to do with education activity, which has been involved at the 
moment. We have commented that preschools, primary schools and 
secondary schools can be seen as having the same impact on the 20 
community with there being little or no difference between those three.  

 
 However, when it comes to tertiary education, the whole situation is 

quite different. The reason being is there is basically a huge difference 
in scale, and therefore difference in impact on the communities at large. 25 
So it is interesting to see that the Christchurch City Council, in its 
existing City Plan, in actual fact has four cultural zones, two of which 
are consequence to this hearing, one is schools and one is tertiary 
education.  

 30 
 So the City Plan in its present form recognises there is a difference in 

impacts between those first three groups, which is up to secondary 
level, and tertiary education.  The Auckland Unitary Plan also 
recognises this difference by clearly excluding tertiary education 
facilities from education facilities, and defining tertiary education as 35 
facilities used for education at a post -secondary level. 

 
 So what we have asked for in the way of relief is that the title of 

education activity should be amended, as we have shown there, to 
make it clear that education activity only includes those activities up to 40 
and including secondary level, in other words excludes tertiary 
education. 

 
 Moving on to the issue of site, the definition of site, the current City 

Plan, which is very similar to the proposed new definition, has one 45 
significant difference in that it has removed clause 7, which I have 
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highlighted there in red. One of the reasons for that is that that clause 
has caused some confusion between the Council, the residents and the 
tertiary education providers themselves. So the new definition excludes 
that clause 7. 

 5 
 Interestingly enough none of the tertiary education providers have 

submitted against that removal, so what happened, we believe, is there 
is a small drafting error in that the words otherwise defined boundaries, 
which refer to clause 7, should be removed and that first sentence 
should be rewritten as per the next slide.  10 

 
 If we carry on to the next slide, we are having some issue with the word 

activity and site. Now, it may be that this may be the wrong place to 
include this commentary, but it is very difficult for us when we have 
only a few of the definitions in front of us to be able to submit on at 15 
this particular phase. So at the least we would like to put a stake in the 
sand to say that there is somewhere – the issue of ancillary and site 
need to be linked together.  

 
 Our final point relates to the temporary earthquake recovery activities 20 

and the duration of the rule. Now when the evidence was submitted we 
were under the impression that the duration of the rule would be 
considered at this stage in the proceedings, but it is unclear to us as to 
whether that is the case or not. So we can either - -  

 25 
  [12.25 pm] 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Well I think you should address it now but it is also part of the 

temporary activities that is being heard- - - 
 30 
MR ENGLISH:   Yes, so we have (INDISTINCT 0 .20) 
 
SIR HANDSEN:   - - - later on, but I think you should outline your concerns at 

this stage. 
 35 
MR ENGLISH:   Yes, it is only quite short. 
 
 Our area probably is an example of what is going on around the rest of 

the city.  In our particular area there are three major temporary 
activities as I have highlighted there on that slide.  The Dovedale 40 
Village which belongs to the university, Unlimited School which 
moved out from the centre of the city, and a new temporary 
accommodation development called Waimairi Village. 

 
 These places have caused significant issues with traffic generation, 45 

parking safety impacts and a loss of amenity. 
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 Now as Mr Eman said in his, I think, his rebuttal evidence for the City 

Council, the fact that there had been very few complaints about these 
areas is not a reflection on the fact that there have been no impacts, it is 
just that people have been prepared to pull their own weight and put 5 
their own problems aside for the greater good.  But there is an 
understanding that these things will be limited in extent to initially 
2016.  

 
 It is recognised, however, that there are activities that will have to 10 

extend beyond 2016 because the matters for which these things are 
temporary have not been resolved.  So rather than give everybody carte 
blanche, we have made a suggestion about how this issue might be 
addressed. 

 15 
 One of the things that should also be beared in mind is that it is 

important that the Council if it follows up on this matter, actually 
ensures that the temporary services are being used for what they have 
been consented because, for example, the university have used the 
facilities at Dovedale Village for activities that they were not consented 20 
for. 

 
 So it is important that these extensions are granted for the matters for 

which they were originally consented, not for some other purpose for 
which they are now being used. 25 

 
 And finally - - - 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Sorry, just pause there.  Is there any evidence of it being used 

for other purposes? 30 
 
MR ENGLISH:   Yes. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   But where do we get that evidence from? 
 35 
MR ENGLISH:   The City Council can provide you with that evidence. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   No, in front of us? 
 
MR ENGLISH:   I have not got it here right with me but I can send it to you - - 40 

- 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Quite possibly, the appropriate stage would be during the 

temporary - - - 
 45 
MR ENGLISH:   Yes. 
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SIR HANSEN:   You need to consider whether or not you should be filing 

evidence on that topic for that hearing, okay? 
 
MR ENGLSH:   Yes, thank you.  And finally, perhaps to end on a bit of a 5 

lighter note, I just hope that the process (INDISTINCT 2.58) a little bit 
better than this slide portrays. 

 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you.  Ms Dawson? 
 10 
MS DAWSON:   No, thank you. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Dr Mitchell? 
 
DR MITCHELL:   I have just got one question really, and it is how do you 15 

think the impacts compare between the residents of Ilam, Upper 
Riccarton, as a consequence of the rebuilding of the university, which 
includes a number of “off-site” activities, compares to those in the 
eastern suburbs when they have been uprooted from their houses and 
their communities and are having to relocate? 20 

 
MR ENGLISH:   I do not think the two things are the same.  Obviously the 

people to the east have had significantly more issues than we are 
experiencing, and this is why I say that people have actually realised 
this is the case and this is why people have not complained about it.  It 25 
has caused problems, but in the scale of what has happened to people in 
the east, I agree, it is not the same, but that is not to say the law should 
just allow people carte blanche to go on as they wish. 

 
SIR HANSEN:   Do you not think it is in the university’s interests to be on the 30 

campus and have their facilities repaired as quickly as possible? 
 
MR ENGLISH:   We do and we have been working with the university with 

regards to the parking issues that have resulted and will continue with 
the movement – I think they have got 3,000 contractors on the site, so 35 
we are not saying these things should not happen, we are just saying 
that they should go through some sort of process just to be checked that 
they are correct. 

 
 Now, we are just giving you an example of what is happening, it could 40 

be happening all over the city, and it is not a huge difficult process to 
actually just check that these things are necessary. 

 
SIR HANSEN:   I cannot ask you any more questions, it just seems to me to be 

a very small minded approach to be focusing on something relating to 45 
some traffic inconvenience and so forth, when parts of the city have 
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been absolutely devastated and the university that the whole region 
relies upon needs to be rebuilt, presumably using concrete and 
aggregate and all those sorts of things that we talked about with you 
yesterday. 

 5 
  [12.30 pm] 
 
MR ENGLISH:   Yes, what we are saying is that we appreciate that, that there 

are issues, things have to resolve and things, with respect to the 
university, for example, they have been (INDISTINCT 0.34) at least 10 
2018 before they complete their present rebuild, and I do not dispute 
that, I mean, they have a huge job on their hands. 

 
 All we are just saying is that, and we are not saying the university 

should not be allowed to continue until 2018, all we are just saying is 15 
there needs to be a process throughout the city, we just use it as an 
example where people should just be given the opportunity to just 
check things are as they should be. 

 
SIR HANSEN:   All right, thank you. 20 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr English.  Just a couple of further things 

and you have heard the Chairman sort of explain that there is the 
temporary activities hearing to come - - - 

 25 
MR ENGLISH:   Yes. 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - and in terms of these processes, it is relatively new 

for everyone really in a way, is it not, but obviously it is not so much a 
question but obviously a pointer to you to think about those sort of 30 
evidential issues in terms of that and in terms of process, make sure that 
you and the Association are communicating with Mr Cowie and so 
forth, so you feel as comfortable as you possibly can. 

 
MR ENGLISH:   Certainly.  In terms of the evidence with the university, just 35 

to clarify things, we are not out to crucify the university per se, and it 
may be that we decide not to present the evidence for the university 
because we do not want to make a big issue out of it, it was just a point 
to say that there things will not always be as they should be.  

 40 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Certainly.  And in terms of those impacts you describe, 

which no doubt have been an issue for your members, have you had 
discussions, for instance, if you take the issue of parking or safety, 
those sorts of things, it seems that a lot of that can come back also to 
how the Council is managing those issues in conjunction with the 45 
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university.  Has there been initiatives there that the Association has 
taken up with the Council Traffic team? 

 
MR ENGLISH:   There have been – we try to act in a collaborative processing 

if we can and if we can instigate things we will do.  At the moment, for 5 
example, the university has got an issue where it has to (INDISTINCT 
2.47) going to have to allow for, I think, it is 600 students an hour to be 
moved from the main Ilam campus to the Dovedale campus while this 
new school is being redeveloped. 

 10 
 So we are trying to work with the Council and the university on 

resolving that issue, and we are trying to do it in a collabrity sort of 
process - - - 

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Certainly. 15 
 
MR ENGLISH:   - - - this is not a loggerheads process. 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   So that presumably will just go along on its track and you 

will progress with that, and those things often can produce some 20 
practical answers to inconvenience issues at that level without the Plan 
- - - 

 
MR ENGLISH:   Exactly, I mean, again as another example, the university has 

an issue, it perceives an issue with student accommodation.  What we 25 
did as a positive move is the Association actually organised a day long 
seminar involving a whole range – I think about 30 different people, 
specialist speakers to come along and talk about the issue of student 
accommodation and how these things – how student accommodation 
should look in the future.  Now, that was done as a collaborative 30 
approach as a positive way of saying to the university, well you know, 
here are some ideas, can we work together on these issues, so we try 
and take a positive approach to these things. 

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   You would have participated in planning processes and so 35 

forth in the past.  It would be fair to say, would it not, that in any 
planning process, there will always be those people that would never 
have the courage or think to participate in a planning hearing but 
nevertheless they are part of a community.  You accept that? 

 40 
MR ENGLISH:   Yes, that is correct, and that is the point that we were trying 

to make at the beginning is that it is a very, very difficult process at the 
best of times for people.    

 
45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   And you think the Panel, for instance, certain parties have 
made submissions as is always the case with a planning process, but in 
the context of post-earthquake recovery, you think the Panel needs to 
also bear in mind those that are not represented before the Panel in 
terms of the impacts on amenities and so forth? 5 

 
MR ENGLISH:   Absolutely, I mean I think most people are totally 

bamboozled by the process – and, well, frankly have not got the where 
with all to take part so - - - 

 10 
  [12.35 pm] 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   And fair to say that is a common thing with resource 

management hearings, is it not, they bamboozle something, they always 
have. 15 

 
MR ENGLISH:   Yes, and it is particularly so with this case because we are 

moving from a less formal, casual hearing process, almost to an 
Environment Court situation, which adds to the difficulties. 

 20 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 
 
MR ENGLISH:   So that is why we are saying, we are reliant on you, and I am 

sure you are mindful that we just feel we would like to say the general 
public are reliant on you to bear in the back of your mind that this is 25 
about Christchurch, not a few vested interests. 

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thank you very much. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Well, if you have read the transcript, you will realise on a 30 

number of occasions we have put to planning witnesses that this is a 
Plan for the people of Christchurch. 

 
MR ENGLISH:   Yes, I am certainly trying to keep up with the transcripts as 

best I can. 35 
 
SIR HANSEN:   So you will have seen that a number of times. 
 
MR ENGLISH:   Thank you for that. 
 40 
SIR HANSEN:   Look, just a couple of questions that maybe I should have put 

to Mr Harding, he describes the area that you cover, can you tell me the 
population within that area approximately? 

 
MR ENGLISH:   It is about 2,000 households, and there would be about 5,000 45 

people. 
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SIR HANSEN:   How many of those 5,000 would be students? 
 
MR ENGLISH:   I will look down the back of the room, perhaps. 
 5 
SIR HANSEN:   Nobody knows? 
 
MR ENGLISH:   Not honestly. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Okay. 10 
 
MR ENGLISH:   It would probably be say something like 10-15 percent, 

something like that would be a guess. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Would be about the margin, okay. Just help me with this, how 15 

many members do you have in your association? 
 
MR ENGLISH:   Well, everybody who is in the area is deemed to be - - - 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Who is signed up with your incorporated society as a 20 

member? 
 
MR ENGLISH:   Again, I will have to ask him. Does anybody have the 

figures? To give you an idea, when we had a meeting, if we have the 
AGM there is a small, like about 30, but we had a public meeting about 25 
six months ago, we had over 300 people. So it is difficult to say 
exactly. 

 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you, you may stand down. Now we come to 

Avonhead. It is to be Mr or Mrs or Ms Thomas or Paris? Have they 30 
been notified? 

 
MR PARIS:   Sir, I have been talking to Mr Thomas and my expectation was 

that he would be here, right now I guess.  
 35 
SIR HANSEN:   Well, we will stand down and we will see if we can make 

some enquiries and find out what is happening to them, and we will 
resume – I think we could also check whether or not Mr Christensen 
will now make submissions, and if he is not whether the Peterborough 
Village Incorporated Society are in a position to come forward this 40 
afternoon.  

 
 All right, we will stand down, thank you. 
 
ADJOURNED [12.38 pm] 45 
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RESUMED [1.45 pm] 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you. Now, your name is? 
 
MR THOMAS:   Mark Thomas. 5 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Mark Thomas, and you are? 
 
MR THOMAS:   I am representing the Avonhead Community Group. 
 10 
SIR HANSEN:   As their president, chairman? 
 
MR THOMAS:   Spokesman. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Okay. Now, we have got some evidence here from Professor 15 

Bagchi, is that correct? 
 
MR THOMAS:   That is correct, yes. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Now, do you want to give evidence or do you want to make a 20 

submission speaking to that evidence? 
 
MR THOMAS:   I would make a submission basically speaking to that 

evidence and - - - 
 25 
SIR HANSEN:   Expanding on it? 
 
MR THOMAS:   Yes. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Okay, well you just go right ahead and do that. 30 
 
MR THOMAS:   Thank you. 
 
 The Avonhead Community Group Incorporated, the ACG, is registered 

under the Incorporated Societies Act 1908. Governing principle of the 35 
ACG is centred on an apolitical, neutral thinking and impartial action. 
The ACG has been established with the purpose of protecting the 
general and specific interests of the community. It aims to ensure 
sustainable development in all spheres of planning and implementation 
by liaising with all government and non-government organisations to 40 
protect the community’s interests through active participation. 

 
 The ACG represents more than 8,400 households within the north-west 

of Christchurch, including residents in Bryndwr, Ilam, Burnside, 
Russley and Avonhead.  45 
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 The ACG supports clauses 3.5.2.2, 3.5.3.1, 3.5.3.3, 3.5.3.4, 3.5.3.5, 
3.5.4.2, 3.5.4.3, and 3.6.2.2 of the Strategic Directions chapter of the 
DPR phase 1, and I would like to speak to each of those directions now.  

 
 3.5.3.1, a safe and reliable water supply. Regional planning documents, 5 

the Mahaanui Iwi Management Plan and the Council’s Water Supply 
Strategy provide direction for the sustainable management of public 
water supplies. These documents seek clean, safe drinking water for 
households and businesses and protection of the water sources, 
including springs, from effects of development, including 10 
contamination.  

 
 They also aim to ensure that water supplies are able to meet the 

public’s reasonable needs in the future. The Mahaanui Iwi Management 
Plan also recognises the importance of water supplies to the 15 
Manawhenua.  

 
 The Avonhead Community Group’s submission on that is that is that 

we support the clause. The area known as the north-west review area 3, 
NWRA3, between Hawthorndon Road and Russley Road, contains 20 
several unconfined shallow aquifers which supply drinking water to the 
rest of the city.  

 
 Christchurch City Council submitted in evidence before the 

Environment Court in 2005 that any residential business or industrial 25 
development on this land would risk contaminating these aquifers. The 
Avonhead Community Group is pleased to note that the Plan aims to 
protect water sources from the effects of development. 

 
 Moving on to 3.5.3.3, districts culture and heritage is valued. Valuing 30 

the districts of wahi tapu and historic heritage, including its cultural 
heritage, requires protecting significant items, places and areas from 
inappropriate activities and development, as well as conserving, and 
where possible enhancing them for future generations. Canterbury 
Regional Policy Statement provides direction in this area. 35 

 
  [1.50 pm] 
 
 Valuing cultural heritage also requires protecting sites and places of 

significance to Manawhenua, including places where a special 40 
relationship is claimed through several generations. 

 
 Part B, in addition, the Council’s community outcomes seek to enhance 

Christchurch’s identity through its built environment and public spaces, 
including the garden city image and garden heritage of the district, 45 
while largely beyond the scope of the District Plan other community 
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outcomes sought are that cultural and ethnic diversity is valued and 
celebrated, particularly Ngai Tahu Manawhenua values, and that arts 
and culture thrive in Christchurch. 

 
 The Avonhead Community Group’s submission on this is that we 5 

support clause 3.5.3.3. The Avonhead Cemetery is a part of the cultural 
heritage of Avonhead and the Earthquake Memorial is of national 
significance. It is commendable that the District Plan provides for 
conserving and enhancing of the ambience of these sites. 

 10 
 The Avonhead Community Group is also pleased to note that the plan 

seeks to enhance the garden city image. The drive from the airport to 
the city should convince tourists that Christchurch is a garden city. This 
means that the NWRA3 and the area known as Memorial Avenue 
Investments Limited, the MAIL site, should not be used for any 15 
purposes that detracts from the garden city image. 

 
 3.5.3.4, people have a sense of connection to and participate in their 

community. The Council’s Strengthening Communities Strategy, July 
2007, seeks to develop strong communities where people have a sense 20 
of belonging, enriched social networks and take part in the social, 
cultural, economic and political life of the community.  

 
 Some of the work the Council and others do to help strengthen 

communities is outside the scope of the District Plan, however the 25 
District Plan plays an important role by creating opportunities for 
community interaction and links to the past, for example through a 
provision for open space, community facilities and walking networks, 
through access to Mahinga kai, through access to and promotion of 
places of cultural significance and Manawhenua values, and through 30 
and supporting the central city and suburban centres as community 
focal points. 

 
 3.5.3.5, people have access to recreational opportunities. The Council 

seeks to support participation in a wide range of recreational activities 35 
as a contributor to people’s social, physical and economic wellbeing. A 
desired outcome for the community is that all people have access to the 
coastal environment, lakes, rivers, parks, open spaces, recreation 
facilities and libraries. 

 40 
 Public access to areas of scenic, natural, heritage, cultural or 

educational interest is also important. Accepting that providing access 
can, in some cases, have implications for private land owners.  
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 The Avonhead Community Group endorses clauses 3.5.3.4 and 3.5.3.5. 
Avonhead lacks a sports and recreation centre, part of the NWRA3 
could easily be utilised for this purpose. 

 
 3.5.4.2, water quality and quantity are protected and enhanced. 5 

Protecting and enhancing the district’s water resources is vital to ensure 
people have clean, safe water to drink, to maintain the cultural 
wellbeing of tangata whenua and to support economic activity. 

 
 Desired outcomes in this area relate to safeguarding water from the 10 

effects of land use, improving water quality in rivers, streams, lakes 
and wetlands, and maintaining stream and river flows. 

 
 While water is primarily a Regional Council responsibility, the Council 

works with Environment Canterbury to achieve these outcomes through 15 
land use planning and stormwater management. 

 
 The Avonhead Community Group endorses 3.5.4.2 for the same reason 

that it endorses 3.5.3.1 above. 
 20 
 3.5.4.3, efficient and sustainable use of resources. The sustainable 

management of natural and physical resources is the fundamental 
purpose of the Resource Management Act 1991 and reflects the cultural 
values of Ngai Tahu Manawhenua, including the importance of 
Mahinga kai to cultural wellbeing.  25 

 
 The Land Use Recovery Plan requires integration of land use and 

infrastructure, including intensification of urban areas to achieve the 
efficient use of these resources. Other outcomes sought are more 
efficient energy use, a greater proportion of energy use from renewable 30 
sources, efficient and sustainable use of water, a reduction in waste, 
recognition of the importance of strategic infrastructure and recognition 
of the life supporting capacity of the district soils. 

 
 The Avonhead Community Group endorses clause 3.5.3.4. Avonhead is 35 

primarily a residential suburb.  The existing infrastructure, the roading, 
sewage and water supply are operating at their upper limit in 
supporting the existing residential living.   

  [1.55 pm] 
 40 
 Any further human intense development would be unsustainable 

without significant upgrade of that system. 
 
 3.6.3.4 policy, Freshwater Features and Values.  (a) Avoid land use and 

development adversely affecting groundwater aquifers, surface water 45 
bodies and stream catchments, particularly the district’s potable water 
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supplies. (b) Avoid disturbing significant spring head features. (c) 
Ensure the best practicable options are adopted for the treatment and 
disposal of stormwater.  Generally including onsite retention and 
treatment for new urban areas that also mitigate direct stormwater flow 
into natural waterways and. (d) Requires esplanade reserves and strips, 5 
except where inappropriate and development setbacks where necessary 
to protect natural and cultural and mana whenua values.   

 
 The Avonhead Community Group endorses clause 3.6.4.1 for the same 

reason that it endorses clauses 3.5.3.1 and 3.5.4.2 above. 10 
 
 Transport.  Rule 1, minimum number and dimensions of car parks.  

This is quite a large document that actually goes into several 
appendices.   

 15 
 The upshot of it is that we read it to believe that the requirement for 

industrial buildings or industrial subdivisions to provide parking for 
their staff is lessened or diminished or in some cases completely 
denied.   

 20 
 The Avonhead Community Group objects to clause 7.2.3.1.  The 

minimum car park requirements is desirable to avoid a repetition of the 
Russley Business Park scenario where even for high trip generators 
under rule 7.2.3.10, which includes industrial activities.  The Russley 
Business Park situation was where the Russley Business Park was built 25 
and the residential area immediately adjacent to it became the subject 
of car parking for a large number of the employees of businesses within 
that business park, and this has severely resulted in irreparable loss of 
amenity for those residents.   

 30 
 That is our submission, sir.  
 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you.  Ms Dawson? 
 
MS DAWSON:   Yes.  Now you mentioned where the north-west review area 35 

3 is, but can you just tell me that again, please? 
 
MR THOMAS:   It runs from Russley Road through to Hawthornden Road and 

is bounded by Avonhead Park on one side and Avonhead Road on the 
other.  It is approximately 34 hectares of land I believe. 40 

 
MS DAWSON:   And it does not include the MAIL Plan Change site? 
 
MR THOMAS:   No, the MAIL site is the block of land on the corner of 

Memorial Avenue, Russley Road and back by Avonhead Road.   45 
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MS DAWSON:   Yes, so it is on the other side of Avonhead Road? 
 
MR THOMAS:   That is correct. 
 
MS DAWSON:   And are you aware that the MAIL Plan Change has been 5 

notified? 
 
MR THOMAS:   We are aware it has been notified and we will be submitting 

on that in the New Year. 
 10 
MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you very much. 
 
MR THOMAS:   Thank you. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Dr Mitchell? 15 
 
DR MITCHELL:   Thank you, sir.  Good afternoon Mr Thomas. 
 
MR THOMAS:   Good afternoon. 
 20 
DR MITCHELL:   Just two things.  You spent quite a bit of time talking about 

section 3.5 of the Plan, a number of the clauses that are mentioned.  
Are you aware that both the Council, the Crown and Ngai Tahu are 
suggesting that those provisions be deleted entirely from the Plan? 

 25 
MR THOMAS:   I was not aware of that. 
 
DR MITCHELL:   The reason for that, which I can distill for you, is that they 

say all it is doing is summarising other statutory documents, and rather 
than summarising them in a way that might be different from those, 30 
they will rely on those other documents to do that job instead.  Do you 
have any comment on that? 

 
MR THOMAS:   Well I would be concerned of the strength of the content of 

those clauses, particularly those that talk about potable water supplies, 35 
that talk about the use of the land appropriately should it ever be 
weakened.  Now that may not be the case, but that is something that 
would concern us.   

 
DR MITCHELL:   You would be satisfied though that if those provisions (a) 40 

remain somewhere else and were picked up on in this Plan, to the point 
of not changing that Strategic Direction, you would be satisfied with 
that subject to detail? 

 
MR THOMAS:   We would, yes.   45 
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  [2.00 pm] 
 
DR MITCHELL:   And just finally, you mentioned a number of times when 

you were talking about the provisions, you were referring to mana 
whenua and to Ngāi Tahu variously, your group does not purport to 5 
represent mana whenua? 

 
MR THOMAS:   No, we do not at all, I was only reading the content of the 

section. 
 10 
DR MITCHELL:   Yes, that is fine, understood, thank you, Mr Thomas.  

Thank you, sir. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Judge? 
 15 
JUDGE HASSAN:   No, thank you, Mr Chair. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   8,400 households, can you give us an estimate of the 

population within the area that you say you represent? 
 20 
MR THOMAS:   We believe we represent at least 15,000 people. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   15,000, and when was your organisation incorporated? 
 
MR THOMAS:   Off the top of my head it is about two years since. 25 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Right, and how many members would you have? 
 
MR THOMAS:   Paid members are about – look, again I am not sure but I 

think it is about 700. 30 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Okay, thank you.  When you say “paid members” do you 

have other members as well? 
 
MR THOMAS:   We include everybody - - - 35 
 
SIR HANSEN:   So what is the provision, how do you become a member? 
 
MR THOMAS:   Well, you become member by being a resident of Avonhead. 
 40 
SIR HANSEN:   Well, what if you are a member of Avonhead, a resident and 

you do not want to be a member? 
 
MR THOMAS:   You can opt out but - - - 
 45 
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SIR HANSEN:   So according to you they are automatically members unless 
they opt out? 

 
MR THOMAS:   That, as I understand it, has been accepted as part of the 

incorporation of our society.   5 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Okay, thank you.  You may stand down. 
 
MR THOMAS:   Thank you, sir. 
 10 
SIR HANSEN:   Right, Peterborough Village.   
 
<DIANE JEAN LUCAS, sworn [2.02 pm] 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Your full name is Diane Jean Lucas? 15 
 
MS LUCAS:   It is. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   And you have filed an undated and unsigned statement of 

evidence? 20 
 
MS LUCAS:   I filed a statement, sir, yes. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Unsigned and undated? 
 25 
MS LUCAS:   Yes, sir, it just has not - - - 
 
SIR HANSEN:   And you confirm the contents of that evidence to be true and 

correct to the best of your ability? 
 30 
MS LUCAS:   I do, sir. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you, and just before you start. 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Good afternoon, Ms Lucas.  Can I just have it confirmed 35 

for the record on this occasion you are giving evidence in your personal 
capacity rather than as an expert? 

 
MS LUCAS:   It is a situation I have not been in before.  I am on the committee 

of the Peterborough Village and I am also an expert and I am here 40 
representing the village submission but in an expert capacity. 

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, I mean just to clarify that, obviously you are 

entitled, as I know your qualifications obviously and you have set those 
out, and you are entitled to give evidence as a representative for that 45 
group, and that is your right, you are a member of the group.  But just 
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for the record, you do not attest to having complied with the Code of 
Conduct and I would imagine in the fact that you have a vested interest 
as part of the Society you are not in a capacity to do so.  I am just 
wanting that confirmed for the record so we can receive and give due 
weight to your evidence in accordance with its true purpose. 5 

 
MS LUCAS:   I would appreciate advice, sir. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Well, it is a matter for you not for us.  You know the Code of 

Conduct. 10 
 
MS LUCAS:   I do, sir, and I - - - 
 
SIR HANSEN:   And if you are on the committee and are thus conflicted you 

could not comply with the Code of Conduct, could you? 15 
 
MS LUCAS:   Yes. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   So you are giving evidence in a personal capacity on behalf of 

the Village, but not as an independent expert? 20 
 
MS LUCAS:   Not as an independent expert, no. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Yes, thank you, that is all we wanted to record. 
 25 
MS LUCAS:   Thank you. 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you very much, Ms Lucas. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Yes? 30 
 
MR CARRANCEJA:   Sir, that covers some of my questions, thank you, sir.   
 
SIR HANSEN:   Sorry. 
 35 
<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR CARRANCEJA [2.04 pm] 
 
MR CARRANCEJA:   I do have some others though, thank you.  Good 

afternoon, were you here for the questioning of Don Miskell by the 
Panel? 40 

 
MS LUCAS:   Yes. 
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MR CARRANCEJA:   You would have heard then Mr Miskell confirm in 
answering to those questions from the Panel that quality and good 
design in his opinion is still an important factor for the recovery of 
central Christchurch, you would agree with that, would you not? 

 5 
  [2.05 pm] 
 
MS LUCAS:   Yes. 
 
MR CARRANCEJA:   Would you also agree with Mr Miskell that some level 10 

of regulation is required in the central city in order to achieve good 
quality design? 

 
MS LUCAS:   Some level of regulation is required to achieve good design. 
 15 
MR CARRANCEJA:   But you must also accept that there must be some 

flexibility to enable people to look at innovative designs and creativity? 
 
MS LUCAS:   Absolutely, it is essential there are both qualitative and 

quantitative methods.  It is really important you do not try and 20 
prescribe everything as a, you know, measurement, and that is why you 
need the qualitative ones through assessment matters and so on to 
encourage innovation. 

 
MR CARRANCEJA:   Now, I was curious to read in your evidence, Ms Lucas, 25 

that you are opposed to a reduction in urban design rules in assessment 
matters, in fact you want them increased, have I understood your 
evidence correctly? 

 
MS LUCAS:   I seek that there be rules and other methods, yes, it is important. 30 
 
MR CARRANCEJA:   But you mentioned that you want them increased.  

Perhaps if I can refer you to your evidence, I just want to explore that 
with you, Ms Lucas.  Paragraph 17 on page 4, Ms Lucas, and I am 
looking at the end of the fourth line, paragraph 17 page 4, “Urban 35 
design assessment matters should instead be increased”? 

 
MS LUCAS:   Yes, from the current situation in urban design methods and I 

know from experience, such as on the Urban Design Panel which I sit 
on, measures such as improving stormwater quality through ensuring 40 
adequate permeable or vegetated surfaces and things like that, they do 
not come in and in my opinion they should.  Urban design should be 
more holistic, it should not just be an aesthetic. 

 
45 
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MR CARRANCEJA:   I am still curious about this increase in assessment 
matters, you are saying relative to what is currently in the Plan, correct? 

 
MS LUCAS:   Yes. 
 5 
MR CARRANCEJA:   Now, are you aware of the Statement of Expectations, 

are you aware of that document?  In the Order, and I am referring to the 
schedule 4 of the Canterbury Earthquake Replacement District Plan 
Order, there is a Statement of Expectations that sets out, if you like, the 
expectations that are to be promoted through the Replacement Plan. 10 

 
MS LUCAS:   I do not recall that. 
 
MR CARRANCEJA:   You do not recall.  Okay, well, perhaps if I can just 

refer to one of them.  One of the expectations - - - 15 
 
SIR HANSEN:   They are on the screen in front of you now. 
 
MS LUCAS:   Thank you. 
 20 
SIR HANSEN:   You have not read this document before? 
 
MS LUCAS:   No. 
 
MR CARRANCEJA:   Could I refer you to Statement of Expectation A, and I 25 

will just give you some time to consider that please. 
 
MS LUCAS:   Right. 
 
MR CARRANCEJA:   I want you to pay particular attention to (ii) please, 30 

Ms Lucas.   
 
MS LUCAS:   Yes. 
 
MR CARRANCEJA:   Now, your view, your opinion if you like, to increase 35 

the number of assessment matters and that sort of thing, would that not 
be inconsistent with Statement of Expectation A(ii)? 

 
MS LUCAS:   It is not necessarily about a number, it is about that they be 

adequate to address the matters in the round. 40 
 
MR CARRANCEJA:   But that is not what you have said in your evidence, you 

are talking about an increase and in an earlier question you said to me 
“an increase in the number of provisions compared to the Plan as it is 
now”? 45 
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MS LUCAS:   Yes, I have got in my statement “more comprehensive”. 
 
MR CARRANCEJA:   In your fifth line you do refer to, “Urban design 

assessment of matters should instead be increased”, do you see that? 
 5 
MS LUCAS:   Yes. 
 
MR CARRANCEJA:   Is that not inconsistent with - - - 
 
MS LUCAS:   That does not say increased number of them, increased in their 10 

comprehensiveness. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Well, is it or is it not such a view inconsistent with what is in 

front of view? 
 15 
MS LUCAS:   It need not be, sir. 
 
  [2.10 pm] 
 
MR CARRANCEJA:   Ms Lucas, perhaps if I can refer you to a different 20 

document, are you aware of the Land Use Recovery Plan? 
 
MS LUCAS:   Yes. 
 
MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes, and are you familiar with Action 45 of the Land 25 

Use Recovery Plan? 
 
  [2.10 pm] 
 
MS LUCAS:   No, can you show me? 30 
 
MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes.  Could we have that made available, please.  Land 

Use Recovery Plan, Action 45.  There might actually be a document 
beside you too Ms Lucas.   

 35 
MS LUCAS:   Yes. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   It is on the screen in front of you. 
 
MR CARRANCEJA:   It is on the screen in front of you now.  I will just give 40 

you some time to look at that, please, Ms Lucas.   
 
MS LUCAS:   Yes. 
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MR CARRANCEJA:   So this is an action for the Christchurch City Council in 
terms of reviewing the District Plan as it is currently doing now.  I want 
you to concentrate on the first and the second bullets points, please. 

 
MS LUCAS:   Yes. 5 
 
MR CARRANCEJA:   Reduce consenting and notification requirements, that 

is the first one; and the second one is to address standards relating to 
urban design that could negatively impact upon recovery.   

 10 
MS LUCAS:   Yes. 
 
MR CARRANCEJA:   I put it to you that your evidence, where you say you 

wish to “increase urban design assessment matters” is again 
inconsistent with both those bullet points. 15 

 
MS LUCAS:   No, I disagree.  If we make urban design matters address design 

comprehensively, and in a useful way through the process, they need 
not certainly negatively impact on recovery.  If we do things, like I 
mentioned the water issue, that is only one of many, cleansing the 20 
water, the recovery is meant to help with the Avon River and so on.  I 
mean it cannot be seen to be negatively impacting on recovery by 
addressing urban design. 

 
MR CARRANCEJA:   Ms Lucas, could I put the proposition to you this way.  25 

When dealing with say matters of urban design, is it not really the 
critical issue that you need to pitch it at a level, in the context of Action 
45 and in the context of the Statement of Expectations, you would pitch 
it at a level where would not stifle or fail to encourage new 
development in the recovery context? 30 

 
MS LUCAS:   It is important it does not stifle. 
 
MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes. 
 35 
MS LUCAS:   But it has got to be at a number of levels, it is not adequate – I 

mean I heard Mr Miskell put it in – just those statements as from the 
urban design protocol, put it at the high level statement as an objective.  
That is not enough, it has got to be at the high level and it has got to be 
integrated for the different activities, and it has got to be integrated, so 40 
it is not just a thing, a part.  Urban design has to be addressed and 
integrated through the Plan.  

 
MR CARRANCEJA:   Well one last final question there.  I will come to your 

position about an increase.  Whether it is an increase in number or an 45 
increase in breath, and an increase in urban design assessment matters, 
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would not an increase relative to the position now in the current District 
Plan have an adverse impact on innovation, choice, enablement, and 
potentially stifle the development - - - 

 
MS LUCAS:   Of course they could be worded in a way that it would stifle 5 

things, but good urban design provisions and assessment matters would 
not do that, they would assist.  The important thing is that they assist 
developers, it is really good as a designer, as a community, as a 
developer that you can see what is aspired to. 

 10 
 We have people coming in from all over the world to quickly build in 

Christchurch because you cash-in on what is happening, and they need 
to know those expectations of how you can contribute to the wellbeing 
of this city for the long term.  It is not about just making a quick buck, 
and it is important that things are addressed comprehensively and that 15 
people get that guidance. 

 
 I mean, it is great that things like the Urban Design Panel, that it is a 

free process that people could come in with a really early concept and 
get some advice and be told really quickly - it is a quick turnaround 20 
thing, really quickly and it helps them get their design, so it is not an 
impediment.  

 
MR CARRANCEJA:   I have no further questions, thank you very much. 
 25 
SIR HANSEN:   Ms Dawson? 
 
MS DAWSON:   Thank you.  Thank you, Ms Lucas.  Can you tell me the area 

of interest to the Society in the centre of Christchurch, what is the area 
you are - - - 30 

 
MS LUCAS:   The spatial area? 
 
MS DAWSON:   Yes. 
 35 
MS LUCAS:   It includes – but it is not right on the street - it includes 

Colombo, Salisbury, Barbadoes and the River, Otakaro.   
 
  [2.15 pm] 
 40 
MS DAWSON:   Colombo, Salisbury, Barbadoes and the River? 
 
MS LUCAS:   And the lands to those. 
 
MS DAWSON:   How many landowners, or how many properties do you think 45 

are in this Plan? 
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MS LUCAS:   I think I mention in the statement I tendered, we have about 500 

people on the database.  I am not sure how many lots there are. 
 
MS DAWSON:   You do not know how many lots or landowners there are? 5 
 
MS LUCAS:   No, no, it is changing quickly at the moment.   
 
MS DAWSON:   So you do not know what proportion of the landowners in 

that area your Society represents as an incorporated Society? 10 
 
MS LUCAS:   No, most people have some association and we have well 

attended meetings, yes, and like at the moment, we are meeting with all 
of the owners along Colombo Street about their aspirations, yes, so we 
meet them all. 15 

 
MS DAWSON:   Thank you. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Dr Mitchell. 
 20 
DR MITCHELL:   No, I have no questions, thank you, sir. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Judge? 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Chairman.  So just that I understand at the 25 

moment, Ms Lucas, this urban design assessment process that you refer 
to, I take it that is applied in a targeted way, for instance, rather than 
applied across the board? 

 
MS LUCAS:   Yes, absolutely targeted, so an individual dwelling in the central 30 

city, for example, would not be expected to go through that, but it gives 
a guide of desires. 

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   And can you help me understand, just a little bit, is there 

an urban design service of a kind applied to the Crown’s – I forget the 35 
name of it - - -  

 
MS LUCAS:   Anchor. 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Anchor projects? 40 
 
MS LUCAS:   Yes, yes there is, and you know, there is a tendering process and 

so on in this, so design aspirations are articulated through that, and that 
is for the Crown interests, but the land that is not of interest to the 
Crown they seem to want to not bother about, and that is of great 45 
concern. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   And your concern relates to an imbalance that would 

result for the central city area? 
 
MS LUCAS:   Yes, it does, yes. 5 
 
JUDGE HASSAN:   And you are hoping for some sort of balance to be 

achieved through urban design, particularly for that area? 
 
MS LUCAS:   Yes.  We have just been caught out with this because the central 10 

city was not in the Replacement Plan, but the Crown has submitted to 
include it, and that has caught everybody by surprise, because people 
expected to be able to be part of the process of developing the Plan for 
the central city and they have kind of been cut out.  And community 
groups are feeling very disadvantaged with that, and I do not just mean 15 
residential community, it is other communities too. 

 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you.  Anything from the Panel’s questions? 20 
 
MR CARRANCEJA:   No, sir, thank you very much. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you, you may stand down and we will adjourn until 

tomorrow morning. 25 
 
<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [2.18 pm] 
 
MS SCOTT:   Excuse me, sir. 
 30 
SIR HANSEN:   Sorry is there something - - - 
 
MS SCOTT:   Just a couple of housekeeping matters if I may. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Yes, fire away, Ms Scott. 35 
 
MS SCOTT:   I have just got three very quickly.  The first, the Panel had asked 

for some of the Council witnesses to consider if they could assist the 
Panel by providing some revised wording.  That is coming and will be 
with the Panel hopefully by the end of the day. 40 

 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you. 
 
MS SCOTT:   And they will also be available – sorry, they being Ms Carter, 

Mr Blair and Mr Eman, on Monday - - - 45 
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SIR HANSEN:   Look, I think you are going to have to make that tomorrow, I 
have made it clear that I have got a meeting I cannot get out of at 3.30 
on Monday, and we have already had extra people put on on Monday, 
and we are going to have to start early because it created a schedule for 
us that we do not finish until 4.15, so this is a meeting I have had in 5 
place for many months. 

 
MS SCOTT:   Okay. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   So do you think you could get them along at say lunch time 10 

tomorrow? 
 
MS SCOTT:   My only concern is that if any other counsel have questions of 

them, whether that would give them enough time. 
 15 
SIR HANSEN:   I am sure Canterbury Council can easily cope with something 

as straightforward as that, and the out of town ones as well. 
 
MS SCOTT:   Okay, it does lead to my - - - 
 20 
SIR HANSEN:   It is just a matter of making sure you notify them. 
 
MS SCOTT:   Okay, so would that be at the end of - - - 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Look Monday, I think is going to take - there is quite a bit of 25 

substance in Monday, but if we look at tomorrow, I would expect that 
the morning session would be probably, in all honesty, if we can bring 
it through by at least noon easily, and we could start back at 1 o’clock 
before we start with KiwiRail and Mr Rolleston. 

 30 
  [2.20 pm] 
 
MS SCOTT:   Okay, sir, my concern and perhaps it is the next matter which I 

was going to move to which is the temporary activities part 1(b).  I just 
wanted to give you an update - - - 35 

 
SIR HANSEN:   Thank you. 
 
MS SCOTT:   - - - in terms of meeting with the necessary committee, we have 

some time with them tomorrow afternoon at 2 pm and you will notice I 40 
have a new person to my right, Mr Kirk - - - 

 
SIR HANSEN:   Mr Kirk, welcome. 
 
MS SCOTT:   - - - and I was intending on seeking leave not to be here 45 

tomorrow and Mr Kirk was going to sit in the Hearing. 
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SIR HANSEN:   That is fine, that is fine.  What time is your meeting with - - - 
 
MS SCOTT:   I understand it is 2 pm. 
 5 
SIR HANSEN:   The Replacement Plan Subcommittee or something, is it not? 
 
MS SCOTT:   Something along those lines, yes. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Committee for everything.  We will fit them in, make 10 

enquiries and see if we can get them in before lunch.  I am not sure 
there would be very extensive questioning. 

 
MS SCOTT:   The other option if you would be happy to do it, is to start early 

on Monday or are we already doing that possibly? 15 
 
SIR HANSEN:   I seem to say things and you do not seem to listen.  I have 

already made it plain that Monday looks, with Mr Chrisp in particular, 
going to be a heavy day.  We may get through earlier but I cannot take 
the risk.  We could do it on Tuesday morning at 9.30 because we have 20 
the pre hearing set down for 10 I think. 

 
MS SCOTT:   I am in your hands and more than happy to do that on Tuesday 

morning. 
 25 
SIR HANSEN:   Well, if you cannot do it tomorrow - we would prefer to get 

this out of the road tomorrow if you can do it.  Who are the witnesses? 
 
MS SCOTT:   Ms Carter - - - 
 30 
SIR HANSEN:   Yes. 
 
MS SCOTT:   - - -Mr Blair and Mr Eman. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   And they are all Council witnesses? 35 
 
MS SCOTT:   Yes, they are. 
 
SIR HANSEN:    And Council officers, so presumably they can make 

themselves available. 40 
 
MS SCOTT:   Okay. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Any questions. 
 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Have you had any indications from Counsel, Ms Scott, 
that they wish to cross-examine any of them? 

 
SIR HANSEN:   Given the directions for next week. 
 5 
JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, given the direction for next week, I was just 

wondering whether there is a possibility that none want to and if the 
statements were before the Panel we could look at them and perhaps 
they could just put them in by leave, by agreement. 

 10 
MS SCOTT:   Yes, sir, we were intending just to file a Memorandum of 

Counsel with that information in it rather than any supplementary - - - 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Look, why do you not do that and you check – who cross-

examined them the first time round, the Crown and - - - 15 
 
MR CARRANCEJA:   Certainly, the Crown have cross-examined all three, sir. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   And that is all, I think, from memory, is that right? 
 20 
MS SCOTT:   I would have to - - - 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Yes, I think it is going to wrap into this business next week 

with the directions we have given, but we have also said if need be, we 
can hot-tub these people later on. 25 

 
 So would you seek, in those circumstances, would the Crown seek to 

cross-examine? 
 
MR CARRANCEJA:   Sir, I would imagine unlikely, I think perhaps if as you 30 

are suggesting, sir, if the statements were provided attached to a 
memorandum perhaps, and we can look at it overnight and we can just 
- - - 

 
SIR HANSEN:   Yes, let us do that. 35 
 
MR CARRANCEJA:   It might be a quoting issue, sir. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Let us do that, Ms Scott.  My memory is it was only the 

Crown but I do not want to preclude if there was somebody else, they 40 
would have to be approached, but unless there is something very 
specific that needs to be cross-examined on, we will take them in, they 
can feed into next week and we will take it from there.  And I imagine 
given what we have directed for next week, the Panel will not have 
questions either. 45 
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MS SCOTT:   Thank you, sir, and I will check that cross-examination list and 
if any Counsel did cross-examine, I will - - - 

 
SIR HANSEN:   You notify them and just share the memorandum with them 

and if that is the case, there is cross-examination, if they could be on 5 
standby tomorrow, we will fit them in somehow. 

 
MS SCOTT:   Yes, thank you, sir. 
 
SIR HANSEN:   Okay, thank you Ms Scott, we will adjourn, or did you have 10 

something. 
 
MR CARRANCEJA:   No, sir, maybe just one slight thing, my learned friend 

pricked my mind as well.  The Council subcommittee to deal with the 
temporary activities timing, sir, is I understand at 2 o’clock and I am 15 
not anticipating we will overrun tomorrow much past 2, but I may seek 
leave just to be excused and have someone else here if I need to deal 
with that other matter, sir.  I am anticipating it will not be a problem 
because the schedule suggests that we will be ending at 2.15. 

 20 
SIR HANSEN:   We are quite happy if Ms (INDISTINCT 4.49) here just to 

hold the chair. 
 
MR CARRANCEJA:   Thank you very much, sir. 
 25 
SIR HANSEN:   And if she gets to do more than that, that would be good for 

her. 
 
MR CARRANCEJA:   Thank you, sir. 
 30 
SIR HANSEN:   Okay, thank you. 
 
MATTER ADJOURNED AT 2.25 PM UNTIL 
FRIDAY, 12 DECEMBER 2014 
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